DIPEPTIDE TRANSPORT IN YUCATAN MINIATURE PIGLET INTESTINE

BIMAL CHAMARA TENNAKOON



Dipeptide transport in Yucatan miniature piglet intestine

By Bimal Chamara Tennakoon

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

> Biochemistry Department Memorial University of Newfoundland

> > March 2013

St. John's, Newfoundland, Canada

Abstract

The PepT1 transporter is getting much attention in modern nutrition due to its universal substrate affinity for di/tripeptides which facilitates efficient transport of amino acids. As such, di/tripeptides may be an important component of amino acid nutrition because they are transported into enterocytes more efficiently than a mixture of free amino acids. However, limited data are available on the contribution of PepT1 to total peptide uptake. We studied the contribution of PepT1-mediated transport versus paracellular movement to total dipeptide uptake in intestinal samples excised from suckling piglets. Using an *in vitro* Ussing chamber model, we determined that PepT1 was responsible for 46% of the glycyl-sarcosine uptake by piglet jejunum and 73% of the glycyl-sarcosine uptake by piglet ileum; these values are lower than previously reported in cell culture models, suggesting that paracellular peptide uptake is quantitatively important in young piglets.

PepT1 and amino acid transport systems both contribute to amino acid uptake by enterocytes, but the contribution of the different routes to overall amino acid absorption has not yet been defined. Furthermore, very little is known about the interaction between free amino acid and peptide uptake at the cellular level. Using an *in vivo* gut loop perfusion model in piglets, we demonstrated that arginine uptake was enhanced by 81% when perfused simultaneously with 20 mM lysyl-lysine, compared to control. In contrast, perfusing loops with equimolar lysyl-glycine did not alter arginine uptake. We speculated that enhanced uptake of arginine was likely due to trans-stimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+} transporter. Dipeptides are taken up by enterocytes via PepT1 and are then

hydrolyzed to release free lysine. High intracellular free lysine trans-stimulates the $rBAT/b^{0,+}$ anti-transporter to enhance arginine uptake. When lysyl-lysine was perfused with an amino peptidase inhibitor (amastatin), the potentiating effect was abolished, suggesting that this trans-stimulation activity was impeded by reducing intracellular hydrolysis of dipeptides. To the best of my knowledge we are the first to demonstrate the interaction between arginine absorption and lysine-containing dipeptides at the cellular level in an *in situ* model.

Acknowledgements

I sincerely thank my supervisor, Dr. Janet A Brunton for her willingness to take me on as a graduate student, her supervision, encouragement, support and most importantly her patience during my graduate training and in the preparation of this thesis.

I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to my supervisory committee members Dr. Robert Bertolo and Dr. Sukhinder Kaur Cheema for their experienced guidance in the lab work, suggestions, comments, and critiques on my data interpretations.

I take pleasure in expressing my deepest sense of gratitude to Dr. John Brosnan, Dr. Margaret Brosnan, Dr. David Schneider, and Dr. David Heeley for teaching me the insights of research during the course of my study. Also I truly appreciate the support of Dr. Elaine Dodge during my graduate studies.

My lab members were always helpful to me throughout my training. My life would never have been joyful in the lab without all of you. I especially give thanks to graduate students, Matt and Lalani for helping me with animal care. Also my heartiest appreciation goes to Luke, Nicole and Kayla for their unconditional support during surgeries. Also I would like to thank Laura, Chandani, Jason and Brad for their help during my research work.

Thank you to Vanessa Young and Usha Manian for their thoughtfulness and great help during the long process of writing my thesis. I would also like to thank Dayna for proofreading my early manuscripts. I would like to thank all my friends including, late Nancy, Simone, Kayode, Mark, Sophie, Greg, Neel, Stephanie, Punyama, Gayan, Migara, Kangai, Nicole, Chandana, Dilhan, to name a few who surrounded me during the stay in St. John's during my graduate studies for their excellent support as colleagues and friends.

I wish to extend my sincere gratitude to my brother, sister, and mother-in-law who provided a constant support throughout this journey.

I give my deepest appreciation to my dear wife, Raniru, for her love, support and most importantly making this opportunity for me.

I wish to dedicate this work to my loving mother and father who always wished for my success.

Table of Contents

Abstra	ct		ii
Ackno	wledge	ments	iv
List of	figures		xii
List of tables x		xiv	
Abbreviations x			xv
1.	Introduction		1
	1.1.	Protein digestion overview	1
	1.2.	Amino acid absorption	2
	1.2.1.	Neutral amino acid transporter (B0 amino acid transporter)	3
	1.2.2.	Anionic amino acid transporter system (X-AG)	3
	1.2.3.	Imino acid transport system	4
	1.2.4.	β-amino acid transporter system	4
	1.2.5.	Cationic amino acid transporter system (rBAT/b0, +AT)	4
	1.3.	Nutritional importance of small chain oligopeptide absorpti	on
			8
	1.4.	Transepithelial transport of small chain oligopeptides	8
	1.5.	Passive paracellular movement in di/tripeptides transport	9
	1.6.	Intestinal peptide transporter (PepT1)	10
	1.6.1.	PepT1 structure	12
	1.6.2.	Ion dependency	12
	1.6.3.	PepT1 distribution	13

1.6.4.	PepT1 transport affinity and substrate specificity	15
1.6.5.	PepT1 Expression	16
1.7.	Interaction between peptide and amino acid absorption	19
1.8.	PepT1 mediated trans-stimulation of rBAT/b0,+ AT	20
1.9.	Nutritional importance of arginine	23
1.10.	De novo arginine synthesis	23
1.11.	Arginine metabolism and function	25
1.12.	Arginine nutrition during growth and weaning	26
1.13.	Arginine-lysine antagonism	28
1.14.	Rationale	30
1.14.1	Growing piglet as the animal model	30
1.14.2	Ussing chambers as the in vitro model	31
1.14.3	Glycyl-sarcosine as the model dipeptide	32
1.14.4	. Losartan as PepT1 inhibitor	32
1.14.5	. In vivo gut loop method as experimental model	33
1.14.6	Amastatin as amino peptidase inhibitor	33
1.15.	Objectives and Hypotheses	34
Materi	als and methods	36
2.1.	Ussing chamber experiment	36
2.1.1.	Animal procedure	36
2.1.2.	Mounting of intestinal tissues on Ussing chamber	36
2.1.3.	Ussing chamber transport studies	38

2.

	2.1.1.	Wedsuring gryeyr-sureosine uppearance in the serosar burk	-1
			40
	2.1.5.	Measuring the tissue viability	40
	2.2.	In vivo gut loop study to measure arginine uptake	42
	2.2.1.	Animals	42
	2.2.2.	Surgery	42
	2.2.3.	Perfusion Procedures	43
	2.2.4.	Amino acid and dipeptide composition of the perfusates	44
	2.2.5.	Measuring arginine disappearance in luminal perfusates	48
	2.2.6.	Amino acid and dipeptide analysis of perfusate samples	50
3.	Result	s	56
	3.1.	PepT1 contribution to the transepithelial transport of glycy	1-
sarcosine 5			56
	3.1.1.	Glycyl-sarcosine transport across the intestinal sections wi	th
differi	ng conc	centrations of PepT1 inhibitor: preliminary study to determin	e the
ideal PepT1 inhibitor concentration		56	
	3.1.2.	Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine through jejun	um with
and without PepT1 inhibitor		59	
	3.1.1.	Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine in the ileum	63
	3.1.2.	Tissue viability	63
	3.2.	Effect of lysine-containing dipeptides on arginine uptake b	y the
rBAT/b0,+ system 67			67

2.1.4. Measuring glycyl-sarcosine appearance in the serosal buffer

	3.2.1. Effec	et of differing concentrations of lysyl-lysine on argini	ne
uptake	2		67
	3.2.2. Effec	et of differing concentrations of lysyl-glycine on argin	nine
uptake	2		69
	3.2.3. Effec	et of the aminopeptidase inhibitor amastatin on argini	ne
uptake	2		69
	3.2.4. Free	amino acid concentrations in intestinal tissue expose	d to
varyin	g concentratio	ons of lysyl-lysine and lysyl-glycine	71
	3.2.4.1.	Tissue free amino acid concentrations in jejunal m	ucosa
follow	ving lysyl-lysin	ne perfusion	71
	3.2.4.2.	Tissue free amino acid concentrations in jejunal m	ucosa
follow	ving lysyl-glyc	ine perfusion	73
	3.2.4.3.	Tissue free amino acid concentrations in jejunal m	ucosa
following lysyl-lysine or lysyl-glycine perfusion with or without amastatin 75			
	3.2.5. Amir	no acid concentrations in the luminal perfusates	79
	3.2.5.1.	Amino acid concentrations in luminal buffers same	pled in
the lys	syl-lysine and	lysyl-glycine experiments	79
4.	Discussion		83
	4.1. Trans	sepithelial transport of dipeptides	83
	4.1.1. Trans	sepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine with differen	t
concentrations of PepT1 inhibitors 84			

ix

	4.1.2.	Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine through jejunt	ım with
and without PepT1 inhibitor 85			
	4.1.3.	Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine in the ileum w	ith and
without PepT1 inhibitor 88			88
	4.1.4.	Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine in the jejunum	1 and
ileum without PepT1 inhibitor 8			88
	4.2.	Effect of luminal dipeptides on trans-stimulation of rBAT/	b0, +
			89
	4.2.1.	Arginine uptake with lysyl-lysine dipeptides	90
	4.2.2.	Arginine uptake with lysyl-glycine dipeptides	92
	4.2.3.	Effect of aminopeptidase inhibitor on trans-stimulation of	
rBAT	′b0,+ sy	stem	94
	4.2.4.	Arginine disappearance with free luminal lysine	96
	4.2.5.	Appearance of arginine metabolites in perfused buffers	97
	4.3.	Conclusions	98
5.	List of	freferences	101

х

List of figures

	Figure 1-1: Schematic diagram of rBAT/b0,+ amino acid transporter	7
	Figure 1-2: Schematic diagram of intestinal peptide transporter (PepT1)	11
	Figure 1-3: Trans-stimulation of rBAT/b0,+AT after PepT1-mediated dip	oeptide
upta	ake into enterocytes	21
	Figure 2-1: (A) Ussing chamber compartment and (B) Ussing chamber sy	ystem
		36
	Figure 2-2: Schematic of gut loop model	48
	Figure 3-1: Glycyl-sarcosine movement through neonatal pig jejunum ov	er time
		56
	Figure 3-2: Glycyl-sarcosine transport through neonatal pig jejunum with	1
vary	ying concentrations of PepT1 inhibitor (losartan)	57
	Figure 3-3: Glycyl-sarcosine transport through neonatal jejunum with an	b
with	hout PepT1 inhibitor.	59
	Figure 3-4: Mannitol movement through neonatal pig jejunum against tin	ne
		60
	Figure 3-5: Glycyl-sarcosine movement through neonatal pig ileum with	time
		61
	Figure 3-6: Comparison of glycyl-sarcosine transport through jejunum ar	nd ileum
		63
	Figure 3-7: Glycyl-sarcosine transport through ileum with and without Pe	epT 1
inhi	ibitor	64

Figure 3-8: Transepithelial potential difference measured using EK1 electrode kit		
	65	
Figure 3-9: Arginine uptake in the presence of lysyl-lysine dipeptide or free	e	
lysine	67	
Figure 3-10: Arginine uptake with lysyl-glycine dipeptide	69	
Figure 3-11: Effect of preincubation of small intestine with amino peptidas	e	
inhibitor amastatin (AM) on uptake of arginine (Arg)	71	
Figure 3-12: Tissue free arginine, ornithine and lysine concentrations in		
intestinal mucosa treated with differing forms and concentrations of lysine	73	
Figure 3-13 Tissue free arginine, ornithine, lysine and glycine concentration	ns in	
intestinal mucosa treated with differing forms and concentrations of lysine and glycine		
	75	
Figure 3-14: Tissue free arginine, ornithine, lysine and glycine concentration	ons in	
intestinal mucosa treated with differing forms and concentrations of lysine and gly	cine,	
with or without amastatin	77	
Figure 3-15: Arginine (A), ornithine (B), citrulline (C), lysyl-lysine (D) and	d	
lysine (E) concentrations in luminal buffers containing differing forms and		
concentrations of lysine perfused into intestinal loops	79	
Figure 3-16: Arginine (A), ornithine (B), citrulline (C), lysyl-glycine (D),	,	
lysine (E) and glycine (F) concentrations in luminal buffers containing differing		
concentrations of lysyl-glycine or 20 mM L-lysine or 20 mM glycine perfused into)	

intestinal loops

xii

List of tables

Table 2-1: Composition of modified Kreb's buffer used in Ussing cham	ıber
experiments	38
Table 2-2: Experimental conditions (luminal perfusate composition) to	determine
the effect of lysyl-lysine on arginine uptake	45
Table 2-3: Experimental conditions (luminal perfusate composition) to	determine
the effect of glycyl-lysine on arginine uptake	45
Table 2-4: Experimental conditions (luminal perfusate composition) to	determine
the effect of amino peptidase inhibitor amastatin on arginine uptake	46
Table 2 5 Modified buffer flow gradient protocol developed for HPLC	dipeptide
separation	54

Abbreviations

AA- amino acid

AM- amastatin

Arg- arginine

Gly- glycine

LG- lysyl-glycine

LL- lysyl-lysine

Lys-lysine

PepT1- peptide transporter 1

rBAT- basic amino acid transporter

1. Introduction

1.1. Protein digestion overview

Dietary proteins play a critical role for maintaining optimal health. In the period from birth to weaning, dietary protein requirements are high in order to support both maintenance and growth of the individual (Dupont, 2003). According to the World Food and Agricultural Organization, the protein requirement for infants is 2.4 g/kg/d (WHO, 2007). Not only is quantity important, but also the quality of dietary protein is important as it is the only source of essential amino acids, which are crucial for protein synthesis and body homeostasis.

Degradation of dietary proteins begins in the stomach and ends at the small intestinal epithelium (Matthews, 1972). The acidic environment in the stomach denatures the proteins and promotes proteolysis by pepsin. The polypeptides arising from partial protein hydrolysis enter into the small intestine. Thereafter, pancreatic peptidases hydrolyze these polypeptides into small chain oligopeptides (4-6 amino acids) and free amino acids (Freeman *et al.*, 1979). The degradation of dietary protein subsequently continues by the action of hydrolytic enzymes, called brush border membrane peptidases, on the apical surface of the intestinal epithelium. These peptidases split the small chain oligopeptides into di and tripeptides (2 or 3 amino acids) or free amino acids (Caspary, 1992). Analysis of luminal contents after the administration of a protein-containing meal has demonstrated that the end products of protein digestion are mixture of free amino acids and di and tripeptides (Adibi &

Mercer, 1973). These di and tripeptides are taken up by the enterocytes via the hydrogen ion (H^+)-dependent peptide transporter 1 (PepT1), while free amino acids are transported into the cell via a number of different amino acid transporter systems that are present on the apical surface of the enterocytes (Adibi, 1976; Ganapathy & Leibach, 1996).

1.2. Amino acid absorption

The small intestine is the major site of amino acid absorption. There are three major regions in the intestine; proximally to distally, the intestine is divided as duodenum, jejunum and ileum. In addition, the wall of the intestine also consists of three layers of tissues: inner tunica mucosa, middle tunica muscularis and outer tunica serosa (Harrison *et al*, 2004). The inner mucosal layer is folded into finger like projections called villi which are lined by columnar epithelial cells or enterocytes. The apical surface of the enterocytes is organized as microvilli. This structure creates the brush border membrane, which is the active site of free amino acids and di and tripeptide absorption (Barrett, 2006). Both the villi and microvilli structures facilitate absorption by increasing the overall absorptive surface area of the small intestine. Amino acid transporters are present on the apical surface of the small intestine along its entire length, from the duodenum to the ileum; however, the jejunum has the highest amino acid transporter density as reported in the pig, chicken and human (Bröer, 2008).

Free amino acid transport is very complex because of the existence of multiple amino acid carriers with overlapping substrate specificity. For this reason, free amino acid transport activity is commonly referred to as a transport system (Bröer, 2008).

These transport systems differ by the type of substrate, as well as the dependency on Na⁺ or Cl⁻ ions (Dave, 2004; Terada & Inui, 2004). There are five different amino acid transport systems in the brush border membrane: 1) low affinity neutral amino acid transporter system, 2) anionic amino acid transporter system specific for aspartate and glutamate,3) imino acid transporter system for proline and hydroxyproline, 4) transporter system for β -amino acids and anionic amino acids and 5) cationic amino acid transporter system (reviewed by Bröer, 2008).

1.2.1. Neutral amino acid transporter (B⁰ amino acid transporter)

The transport of neutral amino acids into enterocytes occurs mainly via the Na⁺ - dependent B⁰ system. This system is capable of transporting a broad spectrum of neutral and basic amino acids, non-polar amino acids, methionine, glycine, isoleucine and leucine, and aromatic amino acids as well as some metabolites like creatine (Sloan & Mager, 1999; Nakanishi *et al.*, 2001). Mutation of the B⁰ system can cause Hartnup's disease, which is characterized by hyperaminoaciduria with photosensitive skin rash, ataxia, and psychotic behavior (Broer *et al.*, 2004).

1.2.2. Anionic amino acid transporter system (X_{AG})

The anionic amino acids aspartate and glutamate are taken up by enterocytes via the anionic amino acid transporter system X_{AG}^{-} (Maenz *et al.*, 1993). System X_{AG}^{-} is strictly Na⁺ dependent (Munck & Munck, 1999) and it is described to be coupled with the inwardly directed electrochemical potential gradients of Na⁺ and H⁺, and with the outwardly directed gradient of K⁺ (Kanai & Hediger, 1992).

1.2.3. Imino acid transport system

The imino acids, proline and hydroxyproline, appear to be transported via Na⁺ dependent transport activity (Medow *et al.*, 1986; Stevens & Wright, 1987). Munck (1966) reported two carriers involved in uptake of imino acids into enterocytes. The imino acid system transports the amino acids proline, glycine and sarcosine (Stevens & Wright, 1985). The B⁰ system also shares its transporter capacity with imino acids (Munck, 1966). Additionally, the H⁺ coupled amino acid transporter 1 (PAT1) has been identified as another imino acid carrier which also shares its transport activity with glycine (Anderson *et al.*, 2004).

1.2.4. β-amino acid transporter system

Taurine and β -alanine are subject to transport via β -amino acid transport (Liu *et al.*, 1992; Munck & Munck, 1995b). There are two major transporters that have been identified as β -amino acid transporter systems. One is a high affinity Na⁺ and Cl⁻ dependent transporter (Miyamoto *et al.*, 1990); the other is an H⁺ dependent low affinity transporter which is shared by β -alanine, taurine, GABA, proline and glycine (Munck & Munck, 1995b).

1.2.5. Cationic amino acid transporter system (rBAT/b^{0, +}AT)

Cationic amino acids are taken up into enterocytes by an amino acid transporter system called system rBAT/b^{0,+}AT (Palacín, 1994). This cationic amino acid transport system facilitates the Na⁺ independent transport of the cationic amino acids arginine, lysine, ornithine and the neutral amino acid cystine (Munck & Munck, 1997).

rBAT/b^{0,+}AT consists of two subunits. The heavy subunit rBAT is a type II membrane N-glycoprotein and it belongs to a solute carrier protein (Palacín et al., 2005). rBAT is positioned extracellularly, attaching to the plasma membrane through a single transmembrane domain (Kanai & Endou, 2001). The light subunit, b^{0,+}AT is a highly hydrophobic membrane protein with 12 trans-membrane domains (Palacin et al., 2001). Heavy rBAT and light $b^{0,+}$ subunits are connected by a disulphide bond (Gasol *et al.*, 2004). The rBAT protein is unstable and rapidly degraded when it exists alone (Bauch & Verrey, 2002); on the other hand, the $b^{0,+}AT$ subunit is able to function even if expressed alone (Reig et al., 2002). Hagihira et al. (1961) have demonstrated mutual inhibition among arginine, cystine, lysine, and ornithine which indicates they share the same transport mechanism (Hagihira et al., 1961). rBAT/b^{0,+}AT transports cystine and cationic amino acids with Km values of $\sim 100 \mu$ M (Palacín et al., 2005). Stieeger et al., conducted a study using rat renal brush border membrane vesicles, showing inhibition of cationic amino acid transport with high concentrations of phenylalanine and methionine (Stieger *et al.*, 1983). However rBAT/b^{0,+}AT has a higher affinity to cationic amino acids than neutral amino acids (Palacin, 1994). Thus, under normal physiological conditions, rBAT/b^{0,+}AT transports only cationic amino acids (Palacín *et al.* 2001). An experiment conducted in oocytes using radio-labeled amino acids has shown that $rBAT/b^{0,+}AT$ is an obligatory antiporter (Chillaron *et al.*, 1996) and as such, it has intracellular and extracellular binding sites. As well, the K_m value for extracellular binding sites is higher compared to intracellular binding sites (Busch et al., 1994). An in vitro study conducted in human intestinal epithelial Caco-2 cells demonstrated that 85%

of arginine uptake into the cell occurred via rBAT/b^{0,+}AT (Wenzel *et al.*, 2001). A similar kind of study demonstrated that rBAT/b^{0,+}AT was responsible for 47% of lysine uptake across the apical surface of human intestinal epithelial Caco-2 cells (Thwaites *et al.*, 1996). Mutation in the cationic amino acid transporter in the intestine and kidney can cause cystinuria (Rajan *et al.*, 1999). Cystinuria is characterized by the inadequate reabsorption of cystine in the proximal convoluted tubules after the filtering of the amino acids by the kidney's glomeruli, resulting in an excessive concentration of this amino acid in the urine which leads to crystals or stones developing in the ureters or bladder (Fjellstedt *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, malfunction of rBAT/b^{0,+}AT can lead to arginine and lysine deficiencies (de Sanctis *et al.*, 2001). Thus, rBAT/b^{0,+}AT plays an important role in cationic amino acid uptake.



Figure 1-1 Schematic diagram of rBAT/b^{0,+} amino acid

transporter. The heavy subunit rBAT is type II membrane glycoproteins with a single trans membrane domain, and the other light subunit $b^{0,+}$, has 12 trans membrane domains, with the NH₂ and COOH termini located intracellularly.

Adapted from Palacin et al., (2005).

1.3. Nutritional importance of small chain oligopeptide absorption

A classic study conducted in human volunteers demonstrated that after a heavy protein meal, a major portion of amino acids were present as small peptides in the gut lumen as opposed to free amino acids (Adibi & Mercer, 1973). This suggests a role for small chain oligopeptides in amino acid uptake. Another human study demonstrated that the transport of amino acids as small chain oligopeptides was more efficient than the transport of the constituent free L-amino acids (Adibi, 1971). Later, similar observations were reported in studies conducted in pigs (Rerat *et al.*, 1992) and rats (Hara *et al.*, 1984). Further evidence of the importance of small chain oligopeptide absorption is their effectiveness as an alternative route to supply specific essential amino acids to the individuals suffering from genetic mutations of free amino acid transporters (Adibi, 1997).

1.4. Transepithelial transport of small chain oligopeptides

Transepithelial transport of small chain oligopeptides (di/tripeptides) occurs through three major pathways: 1) PepT1 mediated transport (Adibi, 1997), 2) passive paracellular movement (McCollum & Webb, 1998) and 3) by cell-penetrating peptides, which act as cargo carriers to take small chain oligopeptides to the cell interior (Sebbage, 2009). However, the majority of studies on transepithelial transport of di and tripeptides have focused on PepT1 mediated trans-cellular transport and passive paracellular movement.

1.5. Passive paracellular movement in di/tripeptides transport

Transepithelial movement of di and tripeptides between epithelial cells is possible via passive paracellular movement. Access to the paracellular route is considered to be quite limited, as it constitutes only 1/10 000 of the total intestinal absorptive surface area (Zhou *et al.*, 1999). Paracellular movement is driven by a concentration gradient, but the size and charge of tight junctions that are present between the epithelial cells also play a part in the regulation of passive paracellular movement (Karczewski & Groot, 2000). A study conducted in sheep reported a high amount of carnosine (beta-alanyl-L-histidine) paracellular movement in omasal epithelial tissue (Matthews & Webb, 1995), even though PepT1 transporter was present in that epithelial tissue (Chen et al., 1999). A similar study conducted in sparrow intestine showed greater paracellular movement of serine-lysine and serine-aspartate compared to receptor mediated transport (Chediack et al., 2006). Another study carried out using human intestinal epithelial Caco-2 cell layers reported passive paracellular movement as the major transepithelial route of transport for the valine-valine diastereomers, L-valine-D-valine, D-valine-L-valine and D-valine-D-valine (Tamura et al., 1996a) although the D-isomer dipeptides are also transported by PepT1(Lister et al., 1995). Tamura et al. (1996b) also reported that the major transpithelial transport route for valine-valine stereoisomers is the paracellular route (Tamura et al., 1996b). Furthermore, a study conducted in human intestinal epithelial Caco-2 cell monolayers suggested paracellular movement was the main mechanism for the transport of intact valine-proline-proline across the Caco-2 cell monolayer (Satake et al., 2002). All those

studies listed above have shown higher contribution of paracellular movement in dipeptide transport over PepT1 mediated transport. However some studies have demonstrated higher contribution of PepT1 mediated transport in dipeptide transport over paracellular movements. A study conducted in Caco-2 cell monolayers, which inhibited the PepT1 activity by incubating at 4°C, reported that ~80% of dipeptide transport was via the receptor mediated pathway while $\sim 20\%$ of transport was via passive movement (Scow et al., 2011). Similarly, Chen et al., have reported 70% lower glycyl-sarcosine uptake in PepT1 knockout mice compared to wild type, which suggests that 30% of dipeptide uptake was non-receptor mediated dipeptide transport across the intestine (Chen et al., 2010). A similar observation was reported in another PepT1 knockout mouse study, in which 22% of glycyl-sarcosine uptake was via paracellular movement, and 78% was PepT1 mediated transport (Nässl et al., 2011). Thus, paracellular movement may play an important role in transpithelial transport of di/tripeptides as it contributed to at least 20% of transport of dipeptides in the studies above. However PepT1 mediated transcellular transport appears to be the major route of di/tripeptide transport system across the intestinal epithelium in the various models studied.

1.6. Intestinal peptide transporter (PepT1)

Transcellular transport of di/tripeptides occurs through the intestinal peptide transporter (PepT1). PepT1 plays a major role in efficient absorption of dietary protein (Thamotharan *et al.*, 1999). A study conducted in isolated rabbit intestinal brush border

membrane vesicles demonstrated that PepT1 is a H⁺-coupled, energy-dependent, Na⁺ independent transporter (Terada & Inui, 2004).



Figure 1-2 Schematic diagram of intestinal peptide transporter

(**PepT1**). It has 12 trans-membrane domains with both amino and carboxyl termini facing the cytoplasmic side.

Adapted from Fei et al., (1994)

1.6.1. PepT1 structure

The PepT1 transporter protein belongs to solute carrier family 15 (SLC15A1) and is encoded by the SLC15A1 gene (Daniel, 2004a). PepT1 mRNA was first isolated from the rabbit and cloned in Xenopus oocytes (Fei *et al.*, 1994). The structure of the PepT1 transporter has been predicted using hydropathy analysis, and the predicted structure has 12 trans-membrane domains with both amino and carboxyl termini facing the cytoplasm side (Figure 1-2) (Urtti *et al.*, 2001; Daniel, 2004a). In terms of energetic efficiency, PepT1 can transport 2 or 3 amino acids into the cell using the same energy expenditure required to transport a single free amino acid via an amino acid transporter (Daniel, 2004).

1.6.2. Ion dependency

An early study that was conducted using brush border membrane vesicles showed that dipeptide transport via PepT1 was Na⁺ dependent (Sigrist-Nelson, 1975). Later Ganapathy *et al.*, (1981) reported that dipeptide uptake into brush border membrane vesicles was a Na⁺ independent mechanism. Similarly Fei *et al.* (1994) and Pan *et al.* (2001) using rabbit PepT1 cloned Xenopus oocytes, Watanabe *et al.* (2005) using PepT1 expressed in HEK293 cells and Ma *et al.* (2011) using everted gut sacs from mice have confirmed the Na⁺ independent activity of PepT1. Further work on the transporter in rabbit brush border membrane vesicles has demonstrated that dipeptides are co-transported into enterocytes along with H⁺ ions (Ganapathy & Leibach, 1983). Di/tripeptide transport through PepT1 causes an inward current as a result of a net transfer of positively charged ions across the membrane during peptide transport (Daniel, 1996). Ganapathy & Leibach (1985) demonstrated enhanced dipeptide uptake with interior-negative membrane potential and inhibited uptake with an interior-positive membrane potential. The authors also suggested that the inward proton gradient in the mammalian small intestine acts as an energy source for the uphill transport of peptides via PepT1 (Ganapathy & Leibach, 1985). A study conducted in guinea pig intestinal epithelial cell layers also has shown enhanced dipeptide uptake when the apical pH is more acidic than intracellular pH (Hayashi & Suzuki, 1998). As a whole, an acidic microenvironment surrounding the apical surface of the enterocytes acts as the driving force for the PepT1 transporter (Daniel & Kottra, 2004b). The combination of a Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger in the brush-border membrane and a Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase on the basolateral membrane is likely responsible for the maintenance of the proton gradient in the intestine (Ganapathy & Leibach, 1985; Adibi, 2003).

1.6.3. PepT1 distribution

The PepT1 transporter is primarily expressed in intestinal epithelial cells (Daniel & Kottra, 2004). Within the intestine, PepT1 mRNA expression has been predominantly detected in the small intestine, with different rates of expression corresponding to different regions. Freeman (1995) reported PepT1 mRNA expression in rabbits was highest in the duodenum and decreased along the length of the intestine towards the ileum. In humans, PepT1 transporters are also present in the colon but with lower

expression levels compared to small intestine (Ford et al., 2003). PepT1 has been identified in a variety of species including humans, mice (Groneberg et al. 2001), pigs, chickens, sheep, dairy cows (Chen et al. 1999), rats, guinea pigs, rabbits (Adibi, 2003) and black bears (Gilbert et al., 2007). Interestingly, the amount of PepT1 expressed varies within regions of the intestine amongst different species. In chickens, pig, and ruminants, the highest PepT1 mRNA was detected in the duodenum, jejunum, and ileum respectively (Chen et al., 1999). A previous study conducted in our lab demonstrated high PepT1 mRNA expression levels in proximal compared to distal intestine in suckled Yucatan miniature piglets; however, the pattern shifted after weaning, with the greatest expression identified in the distal small intestine (Nosworthy et al., 2012). In contrast, in rats, PepT1 protein expression was greatest in the ileum as compared to jejunum (Tanaka et al., 1998). Gilbert et al. (2007) reported PepT1 mRNA levels were high in the mid-region of the black bear small intestine. Apart from the small intestine, PepT1 transporter has also been identified in the omasum and rumen of ruminants (Chen et al., 1999) and in the caecum of the chicken (Chen et al., 1999). Immunohistochemical analyses have shown that PepT1 protein is localized to the brush border membrane of cells lining the villi tips (Ogihara et al., 1999). Localization of PepT1 to the apical side of the enterocyte has been described as a developmental change. A study carried out using mice showed that PepT1 protein at fetal d 18 and at birth was located in the subapical cytoplasm, basal cytoplasm, and basolateral membrane and later localized to apical surface of enterocyte (Hussain et al., 2002). In summary, PepT1 distribution

varies along the intestinal length amongst various species and also it varies by developmental stage within a species.

1.6.4. PepT1 transport affinity and substrate specificity

PepT1 has the potential to transport over 400 dipeptides and 8000 tripeptides (Boudry et al., 2010). Daniel (2004a) reviewed this vast substrate specificity of PepT1, and suggested that it is facilitated by a water molecule. She suggested that a water molecule shields the electric charges of amino acid side chains in the PepT1 substrate binding sites and allows both charged, polar as well as large nonpolar substrates to bind at the same site (Daniel, 2004a). Though PepT1 has wide substrate specificity, it has differing affinities for different substrates. Perfusion studies conducted in human volunteers to determine the transport rate of 12 different glycyl-containing dipeptides demonstrated the influence of C-terminal amino acid residues on dipeptide absorption in the intestine. One study demonstrated faster absorption of glycyl dipeptides which contain neutral amino acid in their C-terminus over dipeptides containing cationic amino acids in this position (Steinhardt & Adibi, 1986). Vig et al., (2006) and Pan et al., (2001) have shown that dipeptides which consist of cationic amino acids have lower affinity for PepT1. A study conducted in rabbit PepT1 expressed in Xenopus oocytes suggested that the N-terminus of dipeptides was the primary binding site with PepT1 (Meredith et al., 2000). Moreover, transporter affinity of charged molecules could change depending on the pH of the apical microenvironment (Daniel & Kottra, 2004b).

Studies conducted using glycyl-sarcosine as the model dipeptide have shown that it has similar affinity for PepT1 in multiple species including sheep (0.61 mM), chickens (0.47 mM), pigs (0.94 mM), turkeys (0.69 mM), and humans (1.2 mM) (Gilbert et al., 2008). However, the PepT1 transporter has been reported to have a wide range of substrate affinities both within and amongst species; in sheep the affinity of various peptide substrates ranges from 27 µM to 3.0 mM (Pan et al., 2001), in pigs it is 4 µM to 0.53 mM (Klang et al., 2005) and in humans, 80 µM to 8 mM (Vig et al., 2006). Another study that was conducted using Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells in which PepT1 is over expressed, reported that the volume (i.e. size) of dipeptides also determines the transport affinity. These MDCK cells did not transport a tryptophantryptophan dipeptide via PepT1 because this dipeptide failed to activate the PepT1 transporter (Vig et al., 2006). The authors suggested that the reduced activity was because of the large total volume of the dipeptide, which is greater than the capacity of the PepT1 binding site (Vig et al., 2006). In summary, PepT1 has broad substrate specificity with a wide range of affinities. The charge of the amino acid in the Cterminus position, and the pH value of the apical microenvironment among other factors, seems to determine the transport affinity.

1.6.5. PepT1 Expression

The composition of the diet, the age of the animal and the pathological and/or nutritional condition have all been identified as regulatory factors of PepT1 expression.

1.6.5.1. Changes of PepT1 expression with diet

The type of nutrients presented to the intestinal absorptive surface changes during the period from birth to post-weaning. At birth, the neonatal diet shifts from amniotic fluid to milk and during weaning the diet changes from highly digestible milk to a solid diet (Pácha, 2000; Gilbert *et al.*, 2008). Such diet changes likely induce changes in PepT1 presence and/or activity in the intestine. Moreover, the protein composition of the diet has also been identified as a regulatory factor for PepT1 expression (Chen *et al.*, 2005). A study conducted in human intestinal epithelial Caco-2 cells which were incubated in dipeptide-rich media, demonstrated a 1.92 fold increase in peptide-induced PepT1 mRNA expression and a 1.64 fold greater uptake of dipeptides, compared to Caco-2 cells incubated with a mixture of free amino acids (Walker *et al.*, 1998). Similarly, Caco-2 cells exposed to glycyl-sarcosine for 24 h had a two-fold increase in glycyl-glutamine uptake and three-fold increase in PepT1 mRNA abundance (Thamotharan *et al.*, 1998). These data suggest a substrate-driven up regulation of PepT1 in intestinal epithelial cells.

1.6.5.2. Changes of PepT1 expression with age

A linear increase in PepT1 mRNA levels in chicken intestine has been observed with age. In rats, PepT1 expression the small intestine was shown to be maximal at 3-5 d after birth; a rapid decline in PepT1 expression followed. Interestingly, again in rats, a rapid increase of PepT1 expression was observed at 24 d after birth, which corresponded to weaning age (Shen *et al.*, 2001). Another study carried out in Tibetan pigs showed a continuous increase of PepT1 mRNA expression in the duodenum and proximal jejunum from 1 to 14 days of age, followed by a gradual decrease from d 21 to 35 (Wang *et al.*, 2009b).

1.6.5.3. Changes of PepT1 expression under pathological conditions

Expression of PepT1 may also change due to pathological and/or nutritional conditions that an animal experiences. Experiments conducted with tissue taken from food-deprived rats have shown a 2-fold increase in the uptake of dipeptides by isolated brush border membrane vesicles when compared to vesicles from control-fed rats. In the same study, they measured a 3-fold increase in PepT1 protein levels in brush border membrane vesicles from fasted rats (Thamotharan *et al.*, 1999). Furthermore, rats that were food deprived for 4 days showed a distinct increase of PepT1 protein expression in jejunum compared to the control group of chow-fed rats (Ogihara *et al.*, 1999).

Inflammatory bowel disease is a common intestinal disorder that affects approximately 0.5% of Canadians (Bernstein *et al.*, 2006). Higher PepT1 expression was identified in the colon of inflammatory bowel disease patients compared to control patients who did not have colonic mucosal inflammation (Merlin *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, greater expression of PepT1 mRNA was reported in patients with short bowel syndrome compared to control subjects who had intact intestines (Ziegler *et al.*, 2002). In summary, up regulation of PepT1 expression during weaning, fasting and intestinal pathological conditions may represent an intestinal compensatory mechanism to increase amino acid absorption.
1.7. Interaction between peptide and amino acid absorption

Numerous studies have suggested that peptides and free amino acids use different transport mechanisms to enter enterocytes (Cheeseman & Smyth, 1975). However, some studies have reported that interactions occur between free amino acids and peptides during intestinal uptake. A study conducted in monkeys demonstrated an inhibition of glycyl-glycine uptake when provided together with free leucine and methionine (Ganapathy *et al.*, 1979). A similar observation was reported in a study conducted in guinea pigs where they demonstrated an inhibition of glycyl-leucine uptake by leucine and isoleucine (Himukai & Hoshi, 1980). Later, this inhibition was described as a "pseudo-competitive" type of inhibition (Himukai *et al.*, 1982). However, in a study conducted in human volunteers, this effect was not exhibited, and leucine did not inhibit the uptake of glycyl-leucine (Adibi & Soleimanpour, 1974).

In contrast to free amino acids inhibiting peptide uptake, there is evidence that PepT1-mediated uptake of peptides actually increased free amino acid uptake. An *in vitro* study carried out in Caco-2 cells demonstrated enhanced arginine uptake when cells were pre-incubated with dipeptides (Wenzel *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, the uptake of gabapentin (a substrate for cationic amino acid transport system) was also shown to be enhanced by the presence of dipeptide in the incubation media (Nguyen *et al.*, 2007). However, limited studies have been carried out to investigate the interaction between free amino acids and dipeptide uptake; further investigation is required, particularly in *in vivo* models.

1.8. PepT1 mediated trans-stimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+} AT

Cationic amino acid transporter rBATb0,⁺AT accounts for 80% of arginine uptake into the enterocyte (Wenzel *et al.*, 2001). A study conducted in de-folliculated stage VI Xenopus laevis oocytes demonstrated that rBATb^{0,+}AT is an obligatory amino acid transporter. As such, rBATb^{0,+}AT has shown the capability to exchange intracellular for extracellular amino acids under specific conditions, a concept that has been named trans-stimulation (Chillarón *et al.*, 1996). As described previously, rBATb^{0,+}AT has intracellular and extracellular binding sites. The K_m value for the intracellular binding site is higher than that of the extracellular binding site (Busch *et al.* 1994). Thus trans-stimulation activity of rBATb^{0,+}AT may occur once intracellular free amino acid concentration reach an elevated level to bind with the intracellular binding site. A study conducted in rabbit renal brush border membrane vesicles to determine Na⁺ independent arginine uptake has demonstrated accelerated exchange diffusion of arginine in vesicles that were pre-incubated with lysine and ornithine, but not alanine or proline, suggesting trans-stimulation of Na⁺ independent arginine transporter (Hammerman, 1982).



Figure 1-3 Trans-stimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+}AT after PepT1 mediated dipeptide uptake into enterocytes. (1) PepT1 mediated uptake of dipeptides into enterocytes; (2) Intracellular hydrolysis of dipeptides into free AA by amino peptidase enzymes; (3) Results in increased intracellular free AA concentration; (4) Exchange of intracellular free AA for extracellular AA (i.e. trans-stimulation).

Wenzel et al. (2001) conducted a study using human intestinal Caco-2 cells to investigate the effect of PepT1-mediated dipeptide uptake on the uptake of cationic amino acids. They demonstrated enhanced arginine uptake when the cells were preincubated with cationic amino acid-containing dipeptides. The authors suggested that high intracellular free amino acid concentrations were the consequence of the rapid hydrolysis of dipeptides which had been taken up via PepT1; the high intracellular amino acid concentrations triggered the trans-stimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+}AT, increasing arginine uptake (Figure 1-3). This effect has been confirmed using hydrolysis-resistant dipeptides and intracellular amino-peptidase inhibitors; and in both these conditions, when intracellular free amino acid concentration was not increased, greater uptake of arginine via rBAT/b^{0,+}AT was not observed (Wenzel *et al.*, 2001). Gabapentin is an amino acid-like drug, taken up by enterocytes via rBAT/ $b^{0,+}$ AT (Nguyen *et al.*, 2007). An *in situ* single-pass rat intestinal perfusion model study demonstrated significantly improved uptake of gabapentin when perfused with dipeptide mixtures, compared to gabapentin alone. The authors concluded that PepT1 mediated uptake of a dipeptides led to trans-stimulation uptake of gabapentin through the transport system rBAT/b^{0,+}AT (Nguyen *et al.*, 2007). This concept of a relationship between PepT1 and rBAT/b^{0,+}AT represents a new level of understanding of amino acid transport, particularly for the cationic amino acids arginine and lysine; further elucidation of this concept is a primary objective of this thesis.

1.9. Nutritional importance of arginine

The dibasic cationic amino acid arginine was first isolated in crystalline form and subsequently named in 1886 by Schulze and Steiger; in 1895, Hedin showed its presence in animal tissue (Rogers & Visek, 1985). Arginine is a dispensable amino acid in human adults under normal conditions (Tapiero *et al.*, 2002), as it can be synthesized from citrulline in the kidney (Featherston *et al.*, 1973). However, arginine is considered an indispensable amino acid in neonates (Wu *et al.*, 2004a). Arginine becomes indispensable in both neonates and adults if *de novo* synthesis is limited (Hoogenraad *et al.*, 1985) or if the demand for arginine is higher than *de novo* synthesis rates permit, as occurs during growth or in sepsis (Barbul, 1986). Arginine has been identified as the most abundant carrier of nitrogen in mammals as it contains four nitrogen atoms per molecule (Wu *et al.*, 1999b). Arginine is involved in many biochemical reactions in mammals, such as protein synthesis, urea cycle metabolism, polyamine synthesis, nitric oxide (NO) production as well as creatine and agmatine synthesis (Morris, 2006). Thus its metabolism is complex.

1.10. De novo arginine synthesis

Arginine can be found in the liver as it is formed via the urea cycle from citrulline (Morris, 2004a). However there is no net arginine synthesis in liver due to high activity of arginase in the hepatocytes which rapidly hydrolyzes arginine to ornithine and urea (Flynn *et al.*, 2002). In adults, *de novo* arginine synthesis involves the intestinal-renal axis. Citrulline is synthesized in intestinal enterocytes from dietary

arginine (Marini, 2012), or from glutamine (Tomlinson *et al.*, 2011a) and proline (Tomlinson *et al.*, 2011a) via pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthase (Blachier *et al.*, 2009). Citrulline is recognized as the major precursor for arginine synthesis in the kidney (Borsook *et al*, 1941; Wu & Morris, 1998). The citrulline that is synthesized in the intestine is released into the portal venous system (Windmueller & Spaeth, 1981); it bypasses the liver and is taken up by the kidney. In the proximal renal tubules, citrulline is converted to arginine by argininosuccinate synthase and argininosuccinate lyase (Morris, 2004b). The newly synthesized arginine is released into the circulation due to low activity of renal arginase, and is used by other body tissues (Bertolo & Burrin, 2008).

Unlike adults, it has been established that in neonatal piglets (Flynn & Wu, 1996) and humans (Tomlinson *et al.*, 2011b) arginine synthesis takes place predominantly in intestinal enterocytes. Studies conducted in pigs have estimated arginine intake from sow's milk to be $0.42 \text{ g} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$ in one-week-old piglets, but the metabolic arginine requirement for the piglet is estimated to be $1.1 \text{ g} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$ (Wu *et al.*, 2000). Thus, to meet the entire metabolic arginine requirement, there must be substantial reliance on de novo arginine synthesis in suckling piglets. The amino acid proline has been identified as a major precursor for *de novo* arginine synthesis in neonatal piglets (Brunton *et al.*, 1999) and human neonates (Tomlinson *et al.*, 2011b).

Studies conducted in neonatal pig intestine have demonstrated age related changes in *de novo* arginine synthesis. Enterocytes obtained from 1-d-old piglets exhibited efficient conversion of citrulline produced from its precursors into arginine (Blachier *et al.*, 1993). On the other hand, more citrulline was released from the small intestine in 7-21-d-old piglets compared to newborn animals. This was likely due to a decrease in activity of argininosuccinate synthase and lyase in the enterocytes as the piglet ages (Wu *et al.*, 1994). Thus, the small intestine transitions from being a major arginine producer to a major citrulline producer as the animal ages.

1.11. Arginine metabolism and function

Arginine has many important metabolic roles (Visek, 1986). As a urea cycle intermediary, arginine plays a major role in ammonia detoxification. Ammonia derived from amino acids, nucleic acids and other nitrogenous compounds, is converted to non-toxic urea in the liver via the urea cycle. Arginine is hydrolyzed to ornithine by the action of arginase to release urea, which also plays an important role in maintaining acid-base balance (Meijer *et al.*, 1990).

Nitric oxide (NO) production is another important metabolic role of arginine (Wu & Morris, 1998). Nitric oxide synthase (NOS) oxidizes the guanidino group of arginine to form NO and citrulline (Marletta, 1989). There are three isoforms of NOS: neuronal NOS (nNOS), inducible NOS (iNOS) and endothelial NOS (eNOS) (Hallemeesch *et al.*, 2002). NO has been identified as a major vascular endothelial relaxation factor. It also acts as mediator of the immune response, a neurotransmitter as well as a widespread signaling molecule (Ignarro, 2002). NO also inhibits platelet aggregation, leukocyte adhesion and superoxide generation (Wu & Meininger, 2000).

Arginine deficiency can lead to reduction of NO production which can result in impaired organ blood flow and growth retardation in young animals (Wu *et al.*, 1999a).

Ornithine, which is derived from arginine, is the immediate precursor for polyamine synthesis. Polyamines act as antioxidants to protect cells from oxidative damage and they have also been found to modulate protein synthesis by stimulating the assembly of 30S ribosomal subunits (Igarashi & Kashiwagi, 2000). As such, polyamines play a key role in cell division, tissue growth and differentiation (Pegg & McCann, 1982).

Creatine is another important metabolite of arginine which acts as a high energy phosphate source for the regeneration of adenosine triphosphate (Visek, 1986). In a review by Wyss & Kaddurah-Daouk (2000), they suggest that creatine has antioxidant, antitumor, antiviral, and antidiabetic effects.

In summary, arginine is a dispensable amino acid in most adult mammals as they are able to synthesize arginine *de novo*. However, in neonates and growing animals, arginine has been recognized as a semi-indispensable amino acid that is in high demand but with limited *de novo* synthesis in situations of growth and weaning.

1.12. Arginine nutrition during growth and weaning

An experiment conducted in weaning piglets has shown that weight gain and efficiency of feed utilization were maximized when arginine was supplied at 0.48% in the diet, which is double the National Research Council recommendations (Southern & Baker, 1983). Another study reported sub-maximal growth in sow-fed piglets compared

to artificially fed animals. Data showed that artificially fed piglets have a potential for growth \geq 400 g/d which is 74% greater compared to sow-fed animals (Boyd *et al.*, 1995). Similarly, a study conducted to determine the effect of dietary arginine supplementation at 0.2 and 0.4% of diet in artificially reared piglets demonstrated an improvement of 28% to 66%, respectively, in daily weight gain compared to controls. Final body weights were 15% and 32% higher with the 0.2 and 0.4% supplementation levels compared to piglets fed unsupplemented sow-milk replacer (Kim *et al.*, 2004). Dietary arginine supplementation has also been reported to enhance intestinal development and expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in weaning piglets (Yao *et al.*, 2011). In the muscle, arginine increased mTOR signaling activity in neonatal pigs, which stimulated muscle protein synthesis and promoted weight gain (Yao *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, arginine enhanced immune status in early-weaned piglets (Tan *et al.*, 2009). Thus, it is interesting that the arginine content in sow milk has been identified as deficient compared to the estimated arginine requirement for optimal piglet growth and metabolism (Wu *et al.*, 2004b).

Weaning is a stressful event linked with gastrointestinal disorders in piglets and weight gain generally slows during this phase (Moeser *et al.*, 2007). A study conducted in 21-d-old male piglets demonstrated that weaning stress reduced the body weight gain by 15% compared to the sow-fed group. Furthermore, arginine supplementation improved the growth rate of piglets by 5.6% during the stressful weaning period (He *et al.*, 2011).

In summary, dietary arginine supplementation may be beneficial for early growth and especially during weaning due to a low concentration of arginine in sow milk and apparent limited *de novo* arginine synthesis necessary to maximize growth.

1.13. Arginine-lysine antagonism

Though it is not yet a common practice to supplement arginine to pig diets, the addition of lysine to animal feed as a supplement is a common practice amongst poultry and swine farmers. Cereal grains are the major ingredient of animal feed and lysine has been identified as deficient in cereal grain-based diets (Ostrowski, 1978). Lysine is considered the first limiting amino acid in the pig diet, and the second limiting amino acid for poultry (Baker, 2007). Lysine is an indispensable amino acid for mammals and its primary function is as a component of body proteins. However, lysine undergoes obligatory oxidation, despite being limited in the diet (Ball *et al.*, 2007). Lysine is also necessary for carnitine synthesis and lysine deficiency will lead to lipid accumulation in the liver, possibly due to a disruption in the transport of long chain fatty acids into the mitochondria for β -oxidation, which requires carnitine (Ball *et al.*, 2007). Thus, lysine deficiency affects not only protein synthesis, but alters lipid metabolism as well.

As described earlier, the cationic amino acid lysine is taken up into enterocytes by rBAT/b^{0,+} AT. As arginine and lysine share the same transporter system for cellular uptake, lysine-arginine antagonism has been observed in chickens (Kadirvel & Kratzer, 1974), growing dogs (Czarnecki *et al.*, 1985), guinea pigs (O'Dell & Regan, 1963) and pigs (Anderson *et al.*, 1984). A study conducted in chickens demonstrated a clear effect of excess lysine on arginine transport and metabolism (Nesheim, 1968). And in reverse, excess arginine has shown unfavorable effects on lysine utilization in pigs (Hagemeier *et al.*, 1983). The classic study conducted in dogs demonstrated that excess lysine supplementation depressed the growth by antagonizing arginine uptake; dogs developed arginine deficiency with orotic aciduria, depressed urea formation, hyperammonemia, and emesis (Czarnecki *et al.*, 1985). Chicks also have shown growth retardation and reduced food intake when they were fed a high lysine diet (Austic & Scott, 1975). Young pigs also demonstrated a decreased weight gain and feed intake when arginine was supplemented in excess with a high arginine to lysine ratio. Moreover excess arginine supplementation increased plasma arginine, ornithine and citrulline levels while reducing plasma lysine concentration in pigs (Southern & Baker, 1982).

In summary, excess arginine in the diet has an antagonistic effect on cellular uptake of lysine in growing piglets. Deficiency or excess of arginine or lysine in the diet can cause growth retardation and adverse metabolic effects in young and growing animals. Designing the ideal diet to meet the requirements for both arginine and lysine while avoiding the antagonistic effects is remains an important challenge. Maximizing growth performance of domestic animals, especially pigs and poultry, will help to address the increased global food demand.

The interactions between free amino acids and peptide uptake at the cellular level is not well understood, but the use of dipeptide supplementation, as opposed to free amino acids, may help to address the issue of antagonism between amino acids which compete for the same transporter. Describing trans-stimulation activity of b^{0,+} transporter

will open new doors for the supply of nutritionally important amino acids, particularly during intestinal stress or injury, in both domestic animals and humans.

1.14. Rationale

1.14.1. Growing piglet as the animal model

The piglet is considered a suitable animal model in nutritional research related to human neonates because of similar gastrointestinal tract morphology, physiology and metabolic changes during development (Miller & Ullrey, 1987). Intestinal development of pigs is representative of humans at the fetal and neonatal stages of development (Pácha, 2000). Small intestinal mucosal enzyme activities of 6 week old piglets and young human infants are similar (Shulman *et al*, 1988). Also Shulman *et al*. (1993) have reported similar gross body composition in newborn piglets and preterm infants.

Amino acid transporter systems and oligopeptide transporter PepT1 are expressed in the porcine intestine from birth. The PepT1 transporter was detected in Tibetan piglets measured at 1, 14 and 28 days of age (Wang *et al.*, 2009b). A previous study conducted in our lab also showed the presence of the PepT1 transporter in the small intestine of Yucatan miniature piglets at 2, 7, 14 and 21 days of age (Nosworthy *et al.*, 2012). The cationic amino acid transporter rBAT/b^{0,+}AT was reported in the duodenum, jejunum, and ileum of the Tibetan pigs at 7 and 21 days of age (Wang *et al.*, 2009a). Hence, the transporters that we were interested in studying (rBAT/b^{0,+}AT and PepT1) are present in the 18-21 day old piglet intestine. In our facility, piglets start weaning at approximately 21 days of age, when they begin to take interes in the grainbased diet fed to the sows, and is completed at 28 days of age when the piglets are removed from the sow. As mentioned earlier, weaning is a stressful event linked to gastrointestinal changes. In order to develop ideal diets to accommodate weaning, it is important to understand nutrient transport physiology at this stage of development. As such, Yucatan miniature piglets at 18 to 21 days of age were selected as the animal model for the studies described in this thesis.

1.14.2. Ussing chambers as the *in vitro* model

Different techniques have been applied for *in vitro* physiological studies of gastrointestinal epithelia including everted sacs, intestinal rings (Hillgren *et al.* 1995) and Ussing chambers. Ussing chambers provide a valuable and validated method for the measurement of electrolyte, nutrient, and drug transport across epithelial tissues (Clarke, 2009). Modified Ussing chambers provide good working interface using viable intestinal tissue under *in vitro* conditions. Studies have demonstrated that with the provision of supplemental oxygen and other nutrients, intestinal tissue can be kept viable for over 120 min in the Ussing chamber system (Soderholm *et al.*, 2002). Winckler *et al.*,(1999) have reported successful transport studies using the Ussing chamber as an *in vitro* model for pig intestinal mucosal tissues. Thus, the Ussing chamber system was selected as our *in vitro* model to measure PepT1 transport activity.

1.14.3. Glycyl-sarcosine as the model dipeptide

Glycyl-sarcosine was found to be very resistant to hydrolysis by brush-border membrane peptidases in the intestine (Ganapathy *et al.*, 1984). The hydrolysis resistance characteristic of glycyl-sarcosine ensures that the dipeptide is presented to PepT1 as an intact molecule. As such, it has been used extensively in studies describing dipeptide transport. Pig intestine is capable of energy-dependent, proton-coupled transport of glycyl-sarcosine via PepT1 (Winckler *et al.*, 1999). Thus, glycyl-sarcosine was selected as the model dipeptide for the *in vitro* studies.

1.14.4. Losartan as PepT1 inhibitor

The PepT1 transporter is responsible for the electrogenic transport of dipeptides into intestinal epithelial cells (Adibi, 1997). A number of dipeptide-like drugs competitively inhibit the PepT1 transporter (Sawada *et al.*, 1999; Terada *et al.*, 2000; Knutter *et al.*, 2009). Losartan potassium is among the peptidomimetic drugs, and is an effective drug for treating hypertension. Losartan strongly inhibited PepT1-mediated dipeptide uptake in human Caco-2 cells (Knutter *et al.*, 2009). While losartan has a high-affinity interaction with PepT1, it binds to the transporter but is not transported. By this mechanism, it strongly inhibits PepT1-mediated uptake of dipeptides (Knutter *et al.*, 2009). Thus, losartan was selected for our studies of PepT1 inhibition in the *in vitro* transport studies.

1.14.5. In vivo gut loop method as experimental model

The intestinal gut loop method has been recognized as a convenient method for intestinal metabolic studies (Nichols & Bertolo, 2008) as well as in amino acid and dipeptide transport kinetic studies (Nosworthy *et al.*, 2012).

Adegoke *et al.* (1999) successfully validated the continuous perfusion gut loop model to measure first pass metabolism in gut. It was established in our research group by Nichols and Bertolo (2008) to investigate threonine metabolism. Also Ashida *et al.* (2004) and Pan *et al.* (2002) successfully demonstrated the *in vivo* gut loop method as a reliable method for studies of PepT1-mediated transport in rats. Previously in our lab, Nosworthy *et al.* (2012) used the *in vivo* gut loop method for PepT1 transport studies in Yucatan miniature piglets. Multiple loops within one animal allows for the implementation of multiple experimental conditions at one time while using a minimum number of animals. Thus, the intestinal gut loop method was selected as our experimental model to measure the effects of lysine-containing dipeptides on arginine uptake.

1.14.6. Amastatin as amino peptidase inhibitor

Dipeptides undergo rapid hydrolysis after transport via PepT1 into enterocytes. Aminopeptidase enzymes rapidly hydrolyze dietary dipeptides into free amino acids (Newey & Smyth, 1960). Thus, intracellular aminopeptidase inhibitors will interfere with the intracellular hydrolysis of dipeptides (Wenzel *et al.*, 2001). Amastatin and bastatin are two potent aminopeptidase enzyme inhibitors. Bastatin is considered to be a more potent aminopeptidase inhibitor, but it was identified as a strong PepT1 inhibitor as well (Daniel & Adibi, 1994). In contrast, amastatin does not interact with PepT1 (Daniel & Adibi, 1994). Thus, amastatin was selected as the aminopeptidase inhibitor in this study.

1.15. Objectives and Hypotheses

Study 1:

Objective: To determine the proportion of dipeptide transported by the PepT1-mediated transcellular transport versus paracellular movement in the small intestine under *in vitro* conditions.

Hypothesis: Transepithelial transport of dipeptides consists of passive paracellular movement and PepT1-mediated transcellular transport. Inhibition of PepT1-mediated transport by losartan will inhibit transcellular transport of glycyl-sarcosine and as such, transepithelial movement of glycyl-sarcosine will represent only the passive paracellular avenue of dipeptide uptake.

Study 2:

Objective: To determine whether the presence of lysyl dipeptides enhance the uptake of free L-arginine by the small intestine.

Hypothesis: The presence of dipeptides will enhances the uptake of free arginine into enterocytes through trans-stimulation of the rBAT/b^{0,+} system. The addition of the aminopeptidase inhibitor, amastatin, along with dipeptides will impede the trans-stimulation activity by reducing intracellular hydrolysis of dipeptides.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Ussing chamber experiment

2.1.1. Animal procedure

Eighteen day old, sow-fed Yucatan miniature piglets were obtained from Animal Care Services, Memorial University of Newfoundland. All procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee (Memorial University of Newfoundland), and were in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Pigs were anaesthetized using 4%-5% isoflurane (Abbot Laboratories Ltd., Montréal, QC) delivered with 1.5 L/min oxygen. Once the animal was deeply anaesthetized, a mid-line laparotomy incision was made and an intestinal segment was excised from the mid jejunum which was 100 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz. The isolated intestinal section was freed from the mesenteric fixation and the underlying serous membrane was detached. The intestine was rinsed with ice-cold physiological saline (0.9% NaCl) to remove any residual chyme and was placed in ice-cold oxygenated incubation buffer for transport to the laboratory. The composition of the incubation buffer solution (Table 2-1) is the same as that used in the "serosal" side of the Ussing chamber, described below.

2.1.2. Mounting of intestinal tissues on Ussing chamber

Once in the laboratory, the intestine segments were open longitudinally and rinsed with cold saline to remove all luminal debris. A 2-3 cm section taken from the

intestinal segment was allowed to float in oxygenated modified Krebs's buffer solution until it





Figure 2-1: (A) Ussing chamber compartment and (B) Ussing chamber system

spread out completely. Subsequently, it was mounted on a Styrofoam plate and then transferred to the pins on the Ussing chamber port (Figure 2-1a). The other half of the chamber was aligned with the pins and connected to the gas lift system. World Precision Instruments system model CHM6 Ussing chambers with an aperture of 1 cm² were used for the experiment (Figure 2-1b).

2.1.3. Ussing chamber transport studies

Tissues mounted in the Ussing chambers were incubated on both luminal and serosal sides with 6 mL of modified Kreb's buffer solution (Winkler *et al.*, 2001) (Table 2-1). The pH was set at 7.4 for the serosal solution and 6.0 for the luminal solution using TRIS buffer. The buffer on the luminal side also contained 5 mM glycyl-sarcosine (Bachem Americas, Torrance, CA) alone or with 0, 1, 5 or 10 mM losartan (Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd, Oakville, ON) which was used as the PepT1 inhibitor. The Ussing chamber with glycyl-sarcosine and no inhibitor was used as the control condition. 10 mM glucose was added to the serosal solution as an energy source, and 10 mM mannitol was added to the luminal solution to achieve osmotic balance. The luminal buffer solutions also contained 1 μ Ci/mL ³H-glycyl-sarcosine and 1 μ Ci/mL ¹⁴C-mannitol. Continuous oxygenation and recirculation of the incubation solutions was provided by the gas lift system and all solutions were maintained at 37°C by using the temperature controlled water jacket. At the initiation of the experiment and at 15 min intervals thereafter, 0.5 mL aliquots were sampled from the serosal buffer. The aliquots were

replaced by an equal volume of fresh buffer solution. The luminal buffer was sampled before and after the experiment. The entire experiment was run for 2 hours.

Table 2-1: Composition of modified Kreb's buffer used as the incubation buffer, and in Ussing chamber experiments

Ingredient	Concentration
NaCl	137 mM
KCl	5.4 mM
CaCl ₂ •2H ₂ O	2.8 mM
MgSO ₄	1 mM
K ₂ HPO ₄	0.3 mM
NaH ₂ PO ₄	0.3 mM

2.1.4. Measuring glycyl-sarcosine appearance in the serosal buffer

Glycyl-sarcosine transport was determined by 3 H-glycyl-sarcosine appearance in the serosal buffer. A 50 µL sample was mixed with 5 mL of ScintiVerse (Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ). Disintegrations per minute (DPM) were measured in TriCarb 2810 TR liquid scintillation counter (Perkin Elmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Downers Grove, IL) with a count time of 15 min per sample. Glycyl-sarcosine appearance was determined using the following calculations:

$$Glycyl - sarcosine appearance = SRA * DPMt_n$$

$$SRA = \frac{n_0}{DPMt_0}$$

DPMt₀: DPM counted in the luminal compartment buffer before the experiment was started

DPMt_n: DPM counted in serosal compartment taken after t_n

 n_o : total glycyl-sarcosine (nmol) present in the luminal buffer before the experiment was started

SRA: specific radio activity.

2.1.5. Measuring the tissue viability

Viability of the intestinal tissue mounted on the Ussing chambers was assessed using the EK1 electrode kit (WPI, Sarasota, FL) and DVC-1000 voltage/current clamp (WPI, Sarasota, FL). Smaller blue voltage electrodes were plugged into "V1" and "V2" of the DVC-3 preamplifier (WPI, Sarasota, FL) and they were connected to luer ports located proximal to tissue. The larger red current electrodes were connected with "I1" and "I2" of DVC-3 and connected to luer ports located distally to the intestinal mucosal tissue. Then DVC-3 was connected with DVC-1000 electrode clamp. Voltage gradient between the intestinal mucosal tissues was detected by DVC-1000 electrode clamp. The amplified signals were sent to the computer using the Lab-Trax data acquisition system and were plotted using Lab-Trax data recording software (WPI, Sarasota, FL).

2.2. In vivo gut loop study to measure arginine uptake

2.2.1. Animals

Three week old sow-fed Yucatan miniature piglets were obtained from Animal Care Services, Memorial University of Newfoundland and were randomized to one of three treatment groups (n = 5 per group) as described in section 2.4. All procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee (Memorial University of Newfoundland), and were in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Experimentation was initiated within 2 h of separating the piglets from the sow.

2.2.2. Surgery

Piglets were initially anaesthetized using 5% isoflurane and maintained with 2% isoflurane mixed with O₂ delivered at 1.5 L/min. The ventral abdominal area of the animal was cleaned thoroughly with soap and Povidone-iodine prior to the initiation of surgery. Piglets' body temperature, heart rate, respiration rate and oxygen saturation were monitored throughout the experiment.

A midline incision was made to expose the small intestine. The small intestine was exteriorized and the beginning of jejunum was identified using the ligament of Treitz (end of duodenum) as a landmark. Five or six closed gut loops were positioned along the proximal portion of the jejunum (Adegoke *et al.*, 1999). The first closed gut loop was located 15 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz. An inlet cannula (ID, 1/16 in.;

OD 1/8 in., Watson Marlow, Cornwall, UK) was inserted into the lumen through a small perforation in the intestinal wall and the tubing was secured by tying a suture around the intestine and the tubing. 10 cm was measured distal to the inlet cannula and the same procedure was performed to implant the outlet cannula to form a loop. The remaining loops were created in a similar fashion, placed along the jejunum and separated by 50 cm segments of intestine. Remaining intestine was rinsed with warm saline and placed back into the abdominal cavity. Exposed intestinal segments were moistened with 37°C saline and covered with plastic wrap, in order to prevent dehydration during perfusion. The loops were flushed with warmed PBS (144.6 mM NaCl, 15.9 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.2 mM NaH₂PO₄. H₂O) to remove any chyme present in the intestinal lumen before starting the perfusion.

2.2.3. Perfusion Procedures

The experimental perfusates (described below in section 2.2.4) were continuously re-circulated through the closed intestinal loops, via the use of a multichannel peristaltic pump (Watson Marlow, Cornwall, UK) (Figure 2-2). At the beginning of the study, 60 mL of each perfusate was placed in a bottle with the inlet and outlet cannula tubing immersed in the solution, and the bottles were placed in a water bath that was maintained at 37°C. The experimental solutions were randomly assigned to the loops for each animal from the proximal to distal end of jejunum in order to avoid an effect of location. The solutions were perfused for 120 min. The luminal perfusates were sampled (1 mL) every 30 min. At the end of the experiment, the loops were

excised by cautery and flushed with cold 0.9% saline, placed on ice, cut longitudinally and scraped with a microscope slide to remove the mucosa. The mucosa tissues were weighed and immediately flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for future analyses.

2.2.4. Amino acid and dipeptide composition of the perfusates

Each perfusate (60 mL) was made up of PBS buffer and contained 10 mM arginine (Ajinomoto North America, Inc, Raleigh, NC). The first perfusion experiment (n=5 pigs) tested the effect of lysyl-lysine (Bachem Americas, Torrance, CA) on arginine uptake in the jejunum. Gut loops were perfused with experimental buffers; each buffer contained 10 mM L-arginine with 10, 20 or 50 mM lysyl-lysine (Bachem Americas, Torrance, CA) or with 20 mM L-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd, Oakville, ON) (Table 2-2). The objective of the second experiment (n=5 pigs) was to determine the effect of lysyl-glycine on L-arginine uptake. Six gut loops in each piglet were perfused with buffers that contained 10 mM L-arginine along with 10, 20 and 50 mM lysyl-glycine (Bachem Americas, Torrance, CA) or 20 mM L-lysine or 20 mM glycine (Table 2-3). The third experiment (n=5 pigs) assessed the effect of an amino peptidase inhibitor amastatin on L-arginine uptake. Experimental buffers each contained 10 mM L-arginine with 20 mM lysyl-lysine or 50 mM lysyl-glycine with or without 10 µM amastatin (Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd, Oakville, ON) (Table 2-4). The gut loops, which were perfused with buffers containing amastatin, were pre-incubated with a 10 μ M amastatin solution for 10 min prior to starting the perfusion. In each of the

three experiments, a loop that was perfused with L-arginine as the sole amino acid was used as the control condition. The amino acids and dipeptides were dissolved in PBS buffer which was adjusted to pH 6. To each perfusate, radio-labeled arginine was added in the form of ³H-arginine (2220 kBq or 60 μ Ci per 60 mL) (American Radiolabeled Chemicals, Inc, St. Louis, MO).

Table 2-2: Experimental conditions (luminal perfusate composition) to determine the effect of lysyl-lysine on arginine uptake.

Ingredient	Perfusate 1	Perfusate 2	Perfusate 3	Perfusate 4	Perfusate 5
Arginine	10 mM				
Lysyl-lysine	-	10 mM	20 mM	50 mM	-
Lysine	-		-	-	20 mM

Table 2-3: Experimental conditions (luminal perfusate composition) to determine the effect of glycyl-lysine on arginine uptake

Ingredient	Perfusate 1	Perfusate 2	Perfusate 3	Perfusate 4	Perfusate 5	Perfusate 6
Arginine	10 mM					
Glycyl-	-	10 mM	20 mM	50 mM	—	-
lysine						
Lysine	_	_	-	-	20 mM	_
Glycine			-	-	_	20 mM

Table 2-4: Experimental conditions (luminal perfusate composition) to determine the effect of amino peptidase inhibitor amastatin on arginine uptake.

Ingredient	Perfusate 1	Perfusate 2	Perfusate 3	Perfusate 4	Perfusate 5	Perfusate 6
Arginine	10 mM					
Lysyl-lysine	-		20 mM	20 mM	-	-
Glycyl-	-	—	-	—	50 mM	50 mM
lysine						
Amastatin	-	10 µM	-	10 µM	_	10 μM

2.2.5. Measuring arginine disappearance in luminal perfusates

Arginine uptake was determined by ³H-arginine disappearance from the luminal perfusate. Sampled perfusate (200 μ L) was mixed with 5 mL of ScintiVerse (Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ). Disintegrations per minute (DPM) were measured in TriCarb 2810 TR liquid scintillation counter (Perkin Elmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Downers Grove, IL) with a count time of 15 min per sample. Arginine disappearance was measured using following calculations

Arginine disappearance =
$$\frac{DPMt_0 - DPMt_{120}}{\frac{DPMt_0}{n_0}}$$

 $n_0 = \frac{Initial \ arginine \ concentration}{initial \ volume}$

DPMt₀: DPM in luminal perfusate sample before start perfusion DPMt₁₂₀: DPM in luminal sample taken after 120 min perfusion n₀: absolute amount of arginine (µmol) present in luminal perfusate before the perfusion was started



Figure 2-2: Schematic of gut loop model

2.2.6. Amino acid and dipeptide analysis of perfusate samples

Absolute amounts of amino acids and dipeptides in the perfusates were determined using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (Waters, Mississauga, ON) or ultrahigh performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) (Waters, Mississauga, ON).

2.2.6.1. Sample preparation for HPLC analyses

HPLC analyses were performed in order to determine the absolute amounts of free amino acids and intact dipeptides in the luminal perfusates. Samples were diluted 1:10 as the amino acid concentrations were higher than the maximum loading capacity of Waters PicoTag HPLC column. 100 μL of diluted sample was mixed with 20 μL of 2.5 mM norleucine standard (Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd, Oakville, ON). Then 1 mL of 0.5% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) (Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd, Oakville, ON) in methanol (MeOH) (Fisher Scientific, Whitby, ON) was added to the samples in order to precipitate any protein in the perfusate. Protein-free supernatant was separated after the samples were centrifuged at 4200 x g for 3 min. The supernatant was frozen in liquid nitrogen and vacuum dried on the Thermo Scientific[®] Digital Series SpeedVac Systems (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON). Subsequently 50 μL of a mixture of triethylamine (TEA) (Sigma Aldrich Canada Ltd, Oakville, ON), MeOH (Fisher Scientific, Whitby, ON) and water in a 2:2:6 ratio were added to each sample. The samples were vacuum dried again using the SpeedVac system. Once dried, the samples were labeled with a mixture of TEA, PITC (Thermo Scientific, USA), MeOH and water in a 1:1:7:1. 20 μ L of the PITC solution was added to each sample, and after an incubation period of 35 minutes at room temperature, the process was stopped by freezing in liquid nitrogen. This derivatization step allows PITC to bind with free amino acids to form phenylthiocarbamyl amino acids. The samples were then dried down again. Prior to HPLC analyses, the samples were re-suspended in 200 μ L of sample diluent which was 5 mM Na₂HPO₄ (Sigma Aldrich Canada Ltd, Oakville, ON) titrated to pH 7.4 with 10% H₃PO₄ acid and acetonitrile was added to 10% (Fisher Scientific, Whitby, ON) . Following the addition of the diluent, the samples were vortexed and then centrifuged at 3000 x g for 3 min and the supernatant was transferred to HPLC vials.

2.2.6.2. Sample preparation for UPLC analyses

UPLC analysis was performed after derivatizing the perfusate samples using the Waters AccQ·Tag Amino Acid Analysis Method[®] (Waters, Mississauga, ON). Samples were diluted 1:10 prior to derivatization. 100 μ L of diluted perfusate sample was mixed with 10 μ L of 2.5 μ M norvaline (Sigma Aldrich Canada Ltd, Oakville, ON) internal standard and vacuum dried using the SpeedVac system. Dried samples were then resuspended in 50 μ L of 0.1 N HCl (Fisher Scientific, Whitby, ON). 10 μ L of the resuspended sample was mixed with 70 μ L of AccQ·Tag ultra-borate buffer (Waters, Mississauga, ON) and 20 μ L of AccQ·Tag ultra-reagent (Waters, Mississauga, ON), and was heated for 10 min at 55°C in an oven to facilitate the labeling process of the amino acids with the AccQ•Tag reagent.

2.2.6.3. HPLC analysis of perfusate samples

HPLC sample vials which contained the prepared sample were placed in Waters 717 Plus Auto Sampler system (Waters, Mississauga, ON). A 40 µL aliquot of sample was injected into the reverse phase C18 column which was kept at 46°C to facilitate the separation procedure. The phenylthiocarbamyl amino acids were separated on the column during a 112 min run time, at 1 mL/min and quantified by the UV absorbance at 254 nm. The pcaks in the chromatogram for each amino acid were integrated using Breeze software (Waters, Version 3.3, 2002, Waters Corporation, Woburn, MA), and the amino acid concentrations in the plasma were determined by comparing peak areas to the area produced by the internal norleucine standard.

2.2.6.4. UPLC analysis of perfusate samples

UPLC-prepared samples were placed in the Acquity Sample Manager® (Waters, Mississauga, ON). 1 μ L of derivatized sample was injected into a 2.1 × 100 mm AccQ·Tag ultra® UPLC column (Waters, Mississauga, ON). The column was kept at 55°C to facilitate the separation procedure. Samples were separated on the column during 9.5 min run time at 0.7 mL/min flow rate. Fluorescence absorbance were quantified at 515 nm, using Acquity FLR detector® (Waters, Mississauga, ON). The peaks in the chromatogram were integrated and analyzed using Empower® software (Waters, Version2, 2009, Milford, MA).

2.2.7. Dipeptide identification

The amino acid elution protocol used in our lab did not provide good separation of dipeptides. Hence, the buffer flow gradient protocol was changed as described in Table 2-4. Once peaks for the dipeptides of interest (lysyl-lysine and lysyl-glycine) were identified on the chromatograph, further standards containing 0.0025, 0.025, 0.25 and 2.5 mM lysyl-lysine and lysyl-glycine standards were analyzed to confirm the identity of the peaks.

2.2.7.1. Fraction collection of HPLC samples

The radioactivity that was associated with arginine was determined by fraction collecting the eluent from the HPLC column that corresponded to the arginine peak; similarly, peaks associated with the urea cycle amino acids (ie ornithine and citrulline) were also collected with subsequent scintillation counting. The eluent for each amino acid was collected into a 7 mL scintillation vial using Waters Fraction Collector II (Waters, Mississauga, ON). The radioactivity in those fractions was determined by liquid scintillation counting using biodegradable scintillant (10 mL) (Fisher Scientific, Whitby, ON).

2.2.7.2. Tissue free amino acid analysis

To determine intracellular free amino acid concentrations, 100 mg of tissue was homogenized with 1 mL of 2% perchloric acid for ~45 seconds. The homogenates were centrifuged at 3000 g for 15 min to separate acid soluble free amino acids from protein precipitates. This was repeated 3 times and supernatants were collected and pooled. 50 μ L of the internal standard, 25 μ M norleucine (Sigma Aldrich, Oakville, Canada) was added to the tissue free supernatant. Subsequently, the supernatant was neutralized with 125 μ L of 2 M K₂CO₃ and the samples were centrifuged to separate the supernatant from precipitate. 1 mL of supernatant was vacuum dried and derivatized for HPLC analyses, as described above (Section 2.6.1). However, small changes were made with the amount of derivatization solutions which were used. In the TEA:methanol:water step, 100 μ L was used, and for the PITC labeling step, 50 μ L was used. In the final step, derivatized samples were re-suspended in 300 μ L of sample diluent. Eventually HPLC analyses were performed as described in section 2.6.5.

 Table 2-5 Modified buffer flow gradient protocol developed for HPLC dipeptide

 separation

Standard Amino Acid Separation				Modified Gradient for Dipeptide						
Gradient				Separation						
	Time	Flow	%A	%B	Curve	Time	Flow	A%	%B	Curve
1	0.01	1.0	100.	0.0	6	0.01	1.0	100.0	0.0	6
2	13.5	1.0	97.0	3.0	11	13.5	1.0	97.0	3.0	11
3	24.0	1.0	94.0	6.0	8	24.0	1.0	96.0	4.0	8
4	30.0	1.0	91.0	9.0	5	30.0	1.0	91.0	9.0	5
5	50.0	1.0	66.0	34.0	6	50.0	1.0	66.0	34.0	6
6	66.0	1.0	66.0	34.0	6	66.0	1.0	66.0	34.0	6
7	66.5	1.0	0.0	100.0	6	92.0	1.0	0.0	100.0	6
8	78.5	1.0	0.0	100.0	6	102.0	1.0	0.0	100.0	6
9	79.0	1.0	100.	0.0	6	102.5	1.0	100.0	0.0	6
10	90.0	1.0	100.	0.0	6	112.0	1.0	100.0	0.0	6
3. Results

3.1. PepT1 contribution to the transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine

Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine in jejunal sections, determined *in vitro* via Ussing chambers, was linear between 15 and 120 min (Figure 3-1). Correspondingly, transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine across the jejunal epithelium with different concentrations of the PepT1 inhibitor losartan was also found to be linear from 15 to 120 min (Figure 3-1). Similarly, in ileal sections mounted in Ussing chambers, glycyl-sarcosine movement was linear between 15 to 120 min (Figure 3-5). The linear relationship of glycyl-sarcosine transport with time indicated the constant movement of glycyl-sarcosine out of the intestinal lumen, which laid the foundation for us to carry out further analyses of glycyl-sarcosine transport through intestinal mucosa.

3.1.1. Glycyl-sarcosine transport across the intestinal sections with differing concentrations of PepT1 inhibitor: preliminary study to determine the ideal PepT1 inhibitor concentration

Glycyl-sarcosine transport rate through the jejunum samples was determined from five different Ussing chamber experiments in intestinal tissues taken from three different animals. The overall mean rate of transport was 3.87 ± 1.45 nmol/cm²/min (Figure 3-2). The addition of 1 mM of losartan to the luminal buffer reduced the glycylsarcosine transport rate significantly to 1.83 ± 0.49 nmol/cm²/min (P < 0.05) (Figure 3-2).



Figure 3-1 Glycyl-sarcosine movement through neonatal pig jejunum over time. Values are means \pm SD; each data point represents 4 or 5 individual recordings with tissues taken from two piglets. Data are regressed linearly across time, but statistical comparison of concentrations was not performed.



Figure 3-2 Glycyl-sarcosine transport through neonatal pig jej unum with varying concentrations of PepT1 inhibitor (losartan). Values are means \pm SD; each bar represents 4 or 5 Ussing chamber experiments, with tissues taken from two piglets. P values were determined by one-way ANOVA. Groups with differing superscripts are significantly different at P < 0.05 using Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test.

Further increases in the concentration of losartan to 5 mM and 10 mM reduced the glycyl-sarcosine movement to 1.13 ± 0.42 nmol/cm²/min and 1.52 ± 0.65 nmol/cm²/min, respectively (Figure 3-2). These values were significantly lower than the glycyl-sarcosine transport rate without PepT1 inhibitor (p < 0.05), but not different (p > 0.05) from the 1 mM losartan treatment. Glycyl-sarcosine transport with 5 and 10 mM losartan concentrations were carried out in four Ussing chambers (two per concentration) with tissues obtained from two animals.

3.1.2. Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine through jejunum with and without PepT1 inhibitor

Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine was measured in Ussing chambers under standard conditions with and without losartan, a PepT1 inhibitor. A concentration of 1 mM losartan was used based on the study described above that demonstrated no significant further inhibition with higher concentrations. Intestinal tissues were obtained from 5 piglets and each experimental condition was run in duplicate. Glycylsarcosine transport rate through jejunum sections without PepT1 inhibitor was $3.31 \pm$ 0.67 nmol/cm²/min (Figure 3-3). The addition of losartan to the luminal buffer resulted in a glycyl-sarcosine transport rate of 1.78 ± 0.26 nmol/cm²/min, which was 53% lower than without inhibitor (p < 0.05, n = 5) (Figure 3-3).

Transepithelial transport of mannitol via piglet jejunum was measured by tracking ¹⁴C-mannitol appearance in the basolateral buffer to determine if losartan affected paracellular movement. Transepithelial transport of mannitol without PepT1



Figure 3-3 Glycyl-sarcosine transport through neonatal jejunum with and without PepT1 inhibitor. Values are means \pm SD; n = 5. P values were determined by Student's t-test. Groups with differing superscripts are significantly different at P < 0.01.



Figure 3-4 Mannitol movement through neonatal pig jejunum against time. P values were determined by repeated measure ANOVA. Values are means \pm SD; n = 4.



Figure 3-5 Glycyl-sarcosine movement through neonatal pig ileum with time. Values are means \pm SD; n = 4.

inhibitor was not significantly different compared to when 1 mM of losartan was present (p > 0.05, n = 3) (Figure 3-4). Data were acquired from four different Ussing chamber experiments, but tissues were obtained from three animals.

3.1.1. Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine in the ileum

Glycyl-sarcosine transport was also measured in sections of piglet ileum that were mounted in Ussing chambers, to determine if PepT1 inhibition would have a greater effect in the distal small intestine. Glycyl-sarcosine transport rate through the ileum was 0.56 ± 0.24 nmol/cm²/min under standard conditions, which was significantly lower (p < 0.01) than glycyl-sarcosine transport rate in the jejunum under similar conditions (Figure 3-6). Ileal glycyl-sarcosine transport rate in the presence of 10 mM losartan resulted in significantly lower transport at 0.15 ± 0.10 nmol/cm²/min compared to when no inhibitor was present (p < 0.05, n = 4) (Figure 3-7).

3.1.2. Tissue viability

Viability of excised intestinal tissues was determined by measuring transepithelial potential difference. Change with time of transepithelial potential difference after adding 50 mM glucose solution to the luminal buffer was recorded with both control (Figure 3-8A) and with inhibitor (Figure. 3-8B) conditions.



Figure 3-6 Comparison of glycyl-sarcosine transport through

jejunum and ileum. Values are means \pm SD; n = 4 or 5. P values were determined by Student's t-test. Groups with differing superscripts are significantly different at P < 0.01.



Figure 3-7 Glycyl-sarcosine transport through ileum with and without PepT 1 inhibitor. Values are means \pm SD; n = 4. P value was determined by student t-test. Groups with differing superscripts are significantly different at P < 0.05.



Figure 3-8 Transepithelial potential difference measured using EK1 electrode kit. After measuring the glycyl-sarcosine movement over 120 min, 50 mM glucose was added to the luminal buffer (arrow) and the change in the potential difference was measured without PepT1 inhibitor (A) and with PepT1 inhibitor (B).

3.2. Effect of lysine-containing dipeptides on arginine uptake by the rBAT/b^{0,+} system

Arginine uptake in the presence of differing concentrations of lysine-containing dipeptides was measured using the *in vivo* gut loop method. Five 21 d old piglets were assigned to each condition, and 5 or 6 loops were created in each individual animal.

3.2.1. Effect of differing concentrations of lysyl-lysine on arginine uptake

The uptake of arginine into loops of proximal intestine perfused with varying concentrations of lysyl-lysine or 20 mM L-lysine is shown in Figure 3-9. Significantly higher arginine uptake (81% higher than control) was observed when 20 mM lysyl-lysine was added to the perfusate, compared to arginine alone (p < 0.05). Arginine uptake with 10 and 50 mM lysyl-lysine (139%, 131% of control, respectively) was not significantly different from the control condition. Moreover, 20 mM L-lysine (120% of control) was also not significantly different.



Figure 3-9 Arginine uptake in the presence of lysyl-lysine dipeptide or free lysine. Arginine (Arg) uptake was determined by the disappearance of ³H-arginine + arginine (10 mM) in the absence (control) or presence of 10, 20, :50 mM of lysyl-lysine (LL) or 20 mM L-lysine. Data were expressed as the percentage of baseline, which was arginine disappearance from luminal buffer when perfused alone. Values are mean \pm SD (n=4). Data were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA (*P <0.05).

3.2.2. Effect of differing concentrations of lysyl-glycine on arginine uptake

Unlike lysyl-lysine, lysyl-glycine did not enhance arginine uptake at any concentration in perfused loops of proximal jejunum compared to arginine alone (Figure 3-10). Arginine uptake with 50 mM lysyl-glycine (124% of control) or 20 mM L-lysine (130% of control) was not significant. However, when 20 mM free glycine was included in the perfusate, arginine uptake was 47% higher than in the control condition (p < 0.05) (Figure 3-10).

3.2.3. Effect of the aminopeptidase inhibitor amastatin on arginine uptake

Arginine uptake into the proximal intestine was measured with and without the aminopeptidase inhibitor amastatin under each of the following conditions: arginine alone, arginine with 20 mM lysyl-lysine, and arginine with 50 mM lysyl-glycine (Figure 3-11). Arginine perfused with amastatin did not change arginine uptake in proximal intestine compared to the control. A significantly higher arginine uptake was measured when perfused with 20 mM lysyl-lysine compared to arginine alone (p < 0.05), and the effect was abolished when the gut loop was perfused with amastatin and 20 mM lysyl-lysine simultaneously. Arginine uptake with 50 mM lysyl-glycine (181% of control) also was not significantly different (Figure 3-11).



Figure 3-10 Arginine uptake with lysyl-glycine dipeptide. Arginine (Arg) uptake was determined by the disappearance of ³H-arginine + arginine (10mM) in the absence (control) or presence of 10, 20, 50 mM of lysyl-glycine (LG) or 20 mM L-lysine (Lys) or 20 mM glycine (Gly). Data were expressed as the percentage of baseline, which was arginine disappearance from luminal buffer when perfused alone. Values are mean \pm SD (n= 4). Data were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA (* P < 0.05).

3.2.4. Free amino acid concentrations in intestinal tissue exposed to varying concentrations of lysyl-lysine and lysyl-glycine

Tissue free amino acid concentrations were measured in intestinal mucosa harvested after the cessation of the perfusion experiments; only the concentrations of arginine, lysine, ornithine and glycine under varying experimental conditions are reported.

3.2.4.1. Tissue free amino acid concentrations in jejunal mucosa following lysyllysine perfusion

Mucosal tissue free arginine concentration did not differ in the lysyl-lysine experiment, regardless of the concentration or form of lysine that was delivered in the perfusate (Figure 3-12 A). Tissue free ornithine concentrations were also similar under all experimental conditions (Figure 3-12 B). Compared to the control loop with no lysine in the perfusate, tissue free lysine concentration was significantly higher in intestinal loops exposed to 20 mM lysyl-lysine or 50 mM lysyl-lysine group (0.5 \pm 0.2 versus 2.1 \pm 0.8 or 2.9 \pm 1.1 µmol/g, respectively) (Figure 3-12 C).



Figure 3-11 Effect of preincubation of small intestine with amino peptidase inhibitor amastatin (AM) on uptake of arginine (Arg). Arg uptake was determined by the disappearance of ³H-arginine (10 mM) in the absence (control) or presence of 20 mM lysyl-lysine (LL) or 50 mM lysyl-glycine (GL) with or without 10 μ M amastatin (AM). Data were expressed as the percentage of baseline, which was arginine disappearance from luminal buffer when perfused alone. Values are mean \pm SD (n = 5). Data were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA (*P < 0.05)

3.2.4.2. Tissue free amino acid concentrations in jejunal mucosa following lysylglycine perfusion

Mucosal tissue free arginine concentration did not differ in the lysyl-glycine experiment, regardless of the concentrations or form of lysine and glycine that were delivered in the perfusate (Figure 3-13 A). Similarly, tissue free ornithine concentrations were not significantly different under the varying experimental conditions (Figure 3-13 B). Tissue free lysine concentrations rose with increasing lysylglycine concentrations in the perfusate, and tissue free lysine concentration was significantly higher in loops perfused with 50 mM lysyl-glycine ($7.3 \pm 2.7 \mu$ mol/g) than in the control loop ($1.5 \pm 2.2 \mu$ mol/g) (P < 0.05) (Figure 3-13 C). However, during analysis of standards, the retention time of lysyl-glycine dipeptide peak and the L-lysine peak were found to be very close; as such, when the LG concentrations are high there is a likely possibility that there was overlap of these two peaks and lysine concentrations may not be accurate. Tissue free glycine concentration in the 20 mM glycine-treated loop ($11.7 \pm 6.9 \mu$ mol/g) (Figure 3-13 D). Tissue free glycine concentration in 10, 20 and 50 mM lysyl-glycine treated loops were not significantly different.



Figure 3-12 Tissue free arginine, ornithine and lysine concentrations in intestinal mucosa treated with differing forms and concentrations of lysine. Intestinal mucosal free amino acid concentrations of arginine (A), ornithine (B) and lysine (C). Values are mean \pm SD (n=4). Data were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA followed by Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test (* P < 0.05).

3.2.4.3. Tissue free amino acid concentrations in jejunal mucosa following lysyllysine or lysyl-glycine perfusion with or without amastatin

Similar to previous two experimental conditions, tissue free arginine (Figure 3-14 A) and ornithine (3.14 B) did not exhibit any significant differences in response to changes in the luminal buffer. In the previous two experimental conditions, there was significantly higher tissue free lysine concentration with 20 mM lysyl-lysine or 50 mM lysyl-glycine; however, in this experiment, free lysine concentrations were similar in all experimental groups (Figure 3-14 C).



Figure 3-13 Tissue free arginine, ornithine, lysine and glycine concentrations in intestinal mucosa treated with differing forms and concentrations of lysine and glycine. Intestinal mucosal free amino acid concentration of arginine (A), ornithine (B), lysine or lysyl-glycine (C) and glycine (D). Values are means \pm SD (n=4). Data were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA followed by Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test (* P < 0.05).



Figure 3-14 Tissue free arginine, ornithine, lysine and glycine concentrations in intestinal mucosa treated with differing forms and concentrations of lysine and glycine, with or without amastatin. Intestinal mucosal free amino acid concentrations of arginine (A), ornithine (B) and lysine or lysyl-glycine (C). Values are mean \pm SD (n=4). Data were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA followed by Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test.

3.2.5. Amino acid concentrations in the luminal perfusates

The amino acid concentrations in buffers perfused into the intestinal loops were measured in samples that were collected at 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 min of the perfusion experiment.

3.2.5.1. Amino acid concentrations in luminal buffers sampled in the lysyl-lysine and lysyl-glycine experiments

The arginine concentration in the perfused buffers declined dramatically (\sim 50%) in the first 30 min in all experimental conditions in both lysyl-lysine (Figure 3-15 A) and lysylglycine (Figure 3-16 A) experiments. Subsequently, arginine concentration appeared to plateau or decline only slightly over the next 90 min. Surprisingly, high concentrations of ornithine and citrulline were also found in the luminal buffer samples collected from 30 min onwards in the lysyl-lysine experiment (Figure 3-15 B and C) as well as the lysyl-glycine experiment (Figure 3-16 B and C). Scintillation counting of the fractions collected from citrulline and ornithine peaks demonstrated that the amino acids were radio-labeled with ³H, and thus were at least partially derived from the perfused arginine. Neither ornithine nor citrulline appearance in the luminal buffer differed significantly amongst the various experimental treatments. Lysyl-lysine dipeptide concentrations in perfused buffers also decreased dramatically in first 30 min and appeared to plateau over next 90 min (Figure 3-15 D). Interestingly, the free L-lysine concentration in the lysyl-lysine buffers increased rapidly in first 30 min and afterwards it increased slightly or appeared to plateau (Figure 3-15 E) over next 90 min. Similarly,

lysyl-glycine concentration in perfused buffers declined rapidly in first 30 min and appeared to plateau or decline slightly over the next 90 min (Figure 3-16 D). Another interesting finding was spontaneous hydrolysis of dipeptides in perfusates. Analyses of the buffers sampled prior to the perfusion study demonstrated that 37%, 28% and 39% of the lysyl-lysine underwent spontaneous hydrolysis in the 10, 20 and 50 mM lysyl-lysine solutions, respectively (Figure 3-15 D). However, similar analyses of the lysyl-glycine buffers showed no hydrolysis prior to the start of the perfusion (Figure 3-16 D).















→ Arg
→ Arg + 10 mM LG
→ Arg + 20 mM LG
→ Arg + 50 mM LG
→ Arg + 20 mM Lys
→ Arg + 20 mM Gly

4. Discussion

4.1. Transepithelial transport of dipeptides

The end products of luminal protein digestion are a mixture of free amino acids, di and tripeptides (Adibi & Mercer, 1973). *In vivo* studies in pigs have illustrated that it may be beneficial for absorption when amino acids are presented to the mucosa in the peptide-bound form (Rerat *et al.* 1992). This has also been demonstrated in humans through an *in vivo* experiment during which the absorption rates of amino acids were determined from a mixture of free amino acids or a corresponding mixture of the same amino acids provided as glycyl-dipeptides (Steinhardt & Adibi, 1986). However, the contribution of dipeptides to total amino acid uptake from dietary proteins is still unknown (Daniel, 2004a).

PepT1-mediated transcellular transport (Adibi, 1997) and passive paracellular movement (McCollum & Webb 1998) are recognized as the two major mechanisms for the transepithelial transport of di/tripeptides. In the current study, we investigated the proportion of dipeptide transported by the PepT1 mediated transcellular transport versus paracellular movement in the small intestine of Yucatan miniature piglets under *in vitro* conditions. In the first Ussing chamber study, the rate of transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine was 3.87 ± 1.50 nmol/cm²/min. Winkler *et al.* (1999) also used the Ussing chamber system to measure glycyl-sarcosine uptake in pig jejunum, and reported a rate of 62 ± 12.6 nmol/cm²/10 min. The similarity of these values shows that the

Ussing chamber system can be considered a consistent *in vitro* model to measure transepithelial transport of dipeptides in piglet intestine.

4.1.1. Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine with different concentrations of PepT1 inhibitors

Our experimental design was based on measuring passive paracellular movement by inhibiting the PepT1-mediated pathway. Therefore, the availability of a potent PepT1 inhibitor (losartan) was essential to the study. In a preliminary study, the transepithelial movement of glycyl-sarcosine across the jejunal epithelium was measured with differing concentrations of losartan in order to determine the concentration that optimally inhibited PepT1. We observed that the addition of 1 mM losartan to the luminal buffer significantly reduced the transpithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine in piglet jejunum by 52%. Interestingly, further increases in losartan concentration to 5 or 10 mM did not produce a significantly different transport rate compared to 1 mM of inhibitor. However, all losartan concentrations resulted in inhibition of PepT1-mediated transport, and all were significantly different from control group when no losartan was added (Figure 3-2). To the best of my knowledge, we are the first to demonstrate inhibition of PepT1-mediated dipeptide transport by losartan in piglet intestine. Previously, Knutter et al., (2009) reported a strong inhibition of PepT1 mediated uptake of dipeptides into Caco-2 cells with 1 mM of losartan. In that study, Knutter and colleagues measured the cellular uptake of glycyl-sarcosine into Caco-2 cells, which only represents PepT1mediated transport. However, our model is more physiological than Caco-2 cell lines

which are known to poorly express some metabolic enzymes (Sun *et al.*, 2008). Also, tight junction permeability of Caco-2 cell lines is lower compared to that of human small intestine (Sun *et al.*, 2008). Hence, we conclude that maximum inhibition by losartan on PepT1 transporters is satisfied at 1 mM concentration in piglet jejunum under *in vitro* conditions.

4.1.2. Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine through jejunum with and without PepT1 inhibitor

It was a surprise to find that the addition of losartan lowered transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine by only 47 to 53%; that is, addition of losartan to the luminal buffer acted to inhibit PepT1-mediated transport such that ~ 50% of the dipeptide movement occurred via the passive paracellular route. Those values for paracellular movement were higher than we expected. However, our estimate of the proportion of dipeptides that were transported via paracellular movement was likely an overestimation, because our PepT1 inhibitor may not have inhibited PepT1 by 100%. Knutter *et al.* (2009) reported that losartan inhibited PepT1 mediated uptake by 80-85% at 1 mM concentration. Thus, ~7-10% of the transport that was attributed to paracellular movement may have actually been due to PepT1-mediated transport, because incomplete inhibition confounded the data. Other than incomplete inhibition of the PepT1 transporter, the *in vitro* Ussing chamber model has its own limitations. One of the main weaknesses is that it is missing the complex physiological system of intestinal mucosa (Clarke, 2009). The excision of tissue from the animal suppresses the action of

any endocrine or nervous stimuli on intestinal mucosa (Clarke, 2009). That would reduce the intestinal tonicity such that the tissue becomes "leakier" than *in vivo*.

Other studies have reported both high and low passive paracellular movement of peptides or peptidomemetic drugs, using a variety of models. In an *in vitro* everted gut sac study, approximately 80% of ampicillin transport occurred via passive paracellular movement (Lafforgue *et al.*, 2008) even though ampicillin is a substrate for PepT1 (Bretschneider et al., 1999). In contrast, a study conducted in Caco-2 cells reported PepT1-mediated transpithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine to be 69% to 87% of total transport (Scow *et al.*, 2011). However, it has been reported that narrow pores of the tight junctions in Caco-2 cell lines cause an underestimation of the paracellular route contribution (Nagahara et al., 2004), which may have reduced paracellular movement of dipeptides in the Caco-2 model. Two studies conducted in adult PepT1 knockout mice reported 70% (Chen et al., 2010) and 78% (Nässl et al., 2011) lower transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine compared to wild type mice, which suggests a higher contribution of PepT1-mediated transport of dipeptides in mice intestine compared to our *in vitro* model. Data on the importance of PepT1-mediated transport collected from the knockout mouse model are quite different than our findings, and may be due to interspecies variation of PepT1 expression; however, it is more likely related to developmental differences in the models. Intestinal permeability, particularly in the proximal jejunum, is likely very high in 18 day old piglets in contrast to that in adult mice. Further studies are necessary to understand the discrepancy in data on PepT1mediated transcellular transport of dipeptides from different experimental models.

Mannitol is commonly used as a probe for paracellular permeability in intestinal research *in vitro* (Madara & Stafford, 1989). Unidirectional ¹⁴C-mannitol movement was measured in the current study in order to determine if the PepT1 inhibitor losartan impacted paracellular permeability, which would also confound the results. Mannitol transport through piglet jejunum in the presence of 1 mM losartan was not altered (Figure 3-4); thus, paracellular permeability was not affected, and losartan was shown to be a good choice as a PepT1 inhibitor under our experimental conditions.

Tissue viability is an important factor for *in vitro* studies. A considerable change in the potential difference was observed after adding of 50 mM D-glucose to the luminal buffer at the end of the experiment which demonstrated that tissues were still viable (Figure 3-8). The potential difference across the membrane is produced by the active transport of the electrogenic ions (Clarke, 2009). Once glucose is added to the luminalside buffer, the Na⁺ coupled glucose transporter on the apical membrane transports glucose into the enterocyte (Takata, 1996). This event contributes to a high intracellular Na⁺ ion concentration, and the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase pump in the basolateral membrane actively transports Na⁺ to reduce the intracellular Na⁺ concentration. The process of transporting Na⁺ ions from the luminal to the basolateral side creates the potential difference. In order for that process to happen, the cells need to be viable as the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase pump needs cellular energy. Therefore, we can conclude that the intestinal segments used in Ussing chamber experiment were viable at the end of experiment.

4.1.3. Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine in the ileum with and without PepT1 inhibitor

Paracellular movement in the ileum is known to be lower compared to the jejunum, as reduced inter-cellular space reduces the leakiness of the ileum (Lacombe *et al.*, 2004). We hypothesized that the contribution of the paracellular movement to total dipeptide transport would be lower in ileal compared to jejunal tissue. We observed only 27% paracellular movement in ileum while PepT1-mediated transcellular transport was responsible for 73% of the glycyl-sarcosine transport. Also, contribution of PepT1- mediated transcellular transport in total glycyl-sarcosine transport across the ileal tissue was 20% higher compared to jejunal segments. Therefore, as a proportion of total dipeptide uptake, PepT1-mediated transcellular transport may be of greater importance in the distal compared to the proximal small intestine segments.

4.1.4. Transepithelial transport of glycyl-sarcosine in the jejunum and ileum without PepT1 inhibitor

In the current study we found the overall transepithelial transport of glycylsarcosine was significantly lower in the ileum than jejunum under control conditions, and was more affected in the ileum when PepT1 transport was inhibited (Figure 3-7). Ungell *et al.* (1998) have reported that the available surface area of the intestine decreases from the jejunum to the ileum. A reduction in available surface area could cause absorption to drop in the ileum compared to the jejunum. Although PepT1mediated transcellular transport contributes a greater proportion of total peptide uptake

in the ileum than the jejunum, PepT1 transporters exist in a relatively low concentration in the distal intestine of 18 day old piglets. The piglets we used in the current study had been fed only highly digestible sow milk;PepT1 expression depends highly on substrate exposure (Adibi, 2003). Supporting this argument, Wang *et al.*, (2009b) reported the lowest PepT1 expression in the ileum of 21 day old Tibetan piglets, and Chen *et al.*, (1999) reported lower PepT1 expression in the ileum compared to the jejunum. Hence, without the contribution of paracellular movement and low PepT1 expression in the ileum, total dipeptide transport capacity in the ileum is likely lower compared to the jejunum. Thus, proximal intestine plays a major role in peptide absorption in young neonates.

4.2. Effect of luminal dipeptides on trans-stimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+}

Arginine and lysine are cationic amino acids which share the rBAT/b^{0, +} system for intestinal uptake. Lysine is considered the first limiting amino acid in the pig diet (Baker, 2007), and arginine is an indispensable amino acid in both neonates and growing animals. The Na⁺-independent rBAT/b^{0,+} system has been described as the major transport mechanism for arginine uptake into enterocytes. Wenzel *et al.*, (2001) reported that 85% of arginine uptake takes place via the rBAT/b^{0,+} system. In the present study we investigated the effect of lysine-containing dipeptides on arginine uptake through rBAT/b^{0,+} transporter.

4.2.1. Arginine uptake with lysyl-lysine dipeptides

To my knowledge, we are the first to demonstrate a positive effect of dipeptides on arginine uptake in an in situ gut loop model. In the presence of 20 mM lysyl-lysine, L-arginine uptake was greater compared to when arginine was perfused alone (Figure 3-9). Enhanced arginine uptake that we measured in response to dipeptides, and likely via the rBAT/b^{0,+} system, is termed trans-stimulation. This process was first described as enhanced arginine uptake by human rBAT injected xenopus oocytes that had elevated intracellular cationic amino acid concentrations (Chillarón et al., 1996). The potential for lysine dipeptides to enhance arginine uptake was described in a study conducted in Caco-2 cells (Wenzel et al., 2001). In that study, cells pre-incubated with 10 mM lysyllysine demonstrated enhanced arginine uptake $(293.1 \pm 5.7\%)$ compared to the controls. In contrast, we did not observe significant enhancement of arginine uptake with 10 mM lysyl-lysine. In our *in vivo* model, intracellular free amino acid concentration generated by 10 mM lysyl-lysine may not have been high enough to trigger trans-stimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+} system. Intracellular free amino acid concentration is the main determinant of trans-stimulation (Chillarón et al., 1996). We measured the tissue-free lysine concentration in the mucosa scraped from the perfused gut sections and found that the concentrations changed in parallel with perfusate lysyl-lysine or free lysine concentrations. The tissue free lysine concentration was lowest in the control condition (arginine alone) and was significantly higher in tissue exposed to 20 mM or 50 mM lysyl-lysine (Figure 3-12 C). Thus, intracellular cationic free amino acid concentration may induce trans-stimulation, as arginine uptake was significantly higher when

perfused with 20 mM lysyl-lysine. However, we also found that the addition of 50 mM lysyl-lysine did not produce any further benefit to arginine uptake compared to 20 mM condition. To follow-up on this result, we measured the amino acid and dipeptide concentrations of the buffers that were sampled during the perfusion studies. Lysyllysine when added at 50 mM concentration underwent extensive intraluminal hydrolysis during the perfusion study, such that the free lysine concentration in the perfusate was very high. After 120 min of perfusion, the luminal lysyl-lysine concentration in the buffer had decreased to approximately 21 mM (Figure 3-15 D) and luminal free lysine concentration had increased to 32 mM (Figure 3-15 E). The high free lysine concentration in the luminal buffers may have competed with arginine for the common transporter, resulting in less total uptake of arginine. The appearance of free lysine due to luminal hydrolysis in the 10 mM and 20 mM lysyl-lysine treatments was 8.5 and 16.4 mM, respectively; thus, the lower free lysine concentrations may not have interfered with rBAT/b^{0,+} -mediated arginine uptake. Wenzel et al. (2001) investigated whether the maximum rate of arginine uptake via trans-stimulation was predicted by limitations in dipeptide transport or by intracellular dipeptide hydrolysis. They reported that when Caco-2 cells were exposed to increasing lysyl-lysine concentrations, arginine uptake over time followed a sigmoidal pattern, and the lysyl-lysine EC₅₀ value for transstimulation was ~ 0.5 mM; maximal trans-stimulation of arginine uptake occurred at \sim 10 mM lysyl-lysine, after which point the rate of arginine uptake plateaued. In our study, the perfusion of gut loops with 50 mM lysyl-lysine may have exceeded the maximal rate of transport that can be stimulated by intracellular lysine. Furthermore, we

found very high free lysine concentration in the buffers during and after the perfusion study with the 50 mM lysyl-lysine condition; thus, it is possible that luminal free lysine may have been taken up by rBAT/ $b^{0,+}$, simply exchanging intracellular lysine for extracellular.

In summary, luminal lysyl-lysine appeared to have the capability to enhance arginine uptake by trans-stimulating the rBAT/ $b^{0,+}$ system. Trans-stimulation of rBAT/ $b^{0,+}$ system seems to be due to increased intracellular free lysine concentration generated by lysyl-lysine hydrolysis.

4.2.2. Arginine uptake with lysyl-glycine dipeptides

In a previous study by others, intracellular free amino acid concentration was found to be a key factor in achieving trans-stimulation of the rBAT/b^{0,+} system (Chillaron *et al.*, 1996). In the present study, lysyl-glycine dipeptide was tested along with lysyl-lysine to further clarify the effect of intracellular cationic amino acid concentration on trans-stimulation of the rBAT/b^{0,+} system. Thwaites *et al.* (1995) reported that glycine was not transported via the rBAT/b^{0,+} system. Thus, we hypothesized that the transport of lysyl-glycine would not enhance arginine uptake to the same extent as lysyl-lysine. Free glycine produced by intracellular hydrolysis of lysylglycine should not contribute to enhanced arginine uptake if glycine is not a substrate for counter-transport by the rBAT/b^{0,+} transporter. In the current study, arginine uptake was not significantly higher with 10 (113% of control), 20 (108%) and 50 (125%) mM lysyl-
glycine, compared to the control loops (Figure 3-10). In contrast, Wenzel *et al.*, (2001) reported that Caco-2 cells that were pre-incubated with glycyl-arginine and lysyl-lysine demonstrated an enhanced arginine uptake under both conditions, but arginine uptake was lower when cells were exposed to glycyl-arginine compared to lysyl-lysine. They further demonstrated that glycyl-glycine had no effect on trans-stimulation of the rBAT/b^{0,+} system. It may have been interesting to have included a glycyl-glycine perfusion in our *in vivo* model, to confirm that the system responds only to intracellular concentrations of cationic amino acids.

It was surprising that the 50 mM lysyl-glycine treatment did not produce a significant effect on arginine uptake, as it should result in a similar intracellular free lysine concentration as 20 mM lysyl-lysine. A study conducted in PepT1-expressed MDCK cells demonstrated that the transport affinity for dipeptides via PepT1 is as follows: neutral-neutral > charged-neutral = neutral-charged > acidic-acidic > basic-basic (Vig *et al.*, 2006). For this reason, lysyl-glycine should be taken up into enterocytes more efficiently than lysyl-lysine and increase the tissue free lysine and glycine concentration. We measured the tissue free lysine and glycine concentration of perfused gut loop mucosa and found that lysine concentrations increased with increasing exposure to lysine (as lysyl-glycine). However, the tissue free lysine concentration in the lysyl-glycine perfused mucosa (Figure 3-13C) was much higher than that resulting from 50 mM of lysyl-lysine perfusion (Figure 3-12 C). The apparent high lysine concentration following the glycyl-lysine perfusion may be due to a methodological problem, as there appeared to be inadequate separation between lysyl-glycine and lysine

in the HPLC analysis. We suspect this because tissue free glycine (the other hydrolysis product of lysyl-glycine) did not increase with higher lysyl-glycine treatments (Figure 3-13 D). Another possible factor resulting in low tissue free glycine concentration in lysyl-glycine group is the inefficient hydrolysis of lysyl-glycine in enterocytes. Kottra *et al.* (2009) reported that the amino acid present on the carboxyl terminal affects the hydrolysis rate of dipeptides. They reported that glycine-containing dipeptides are more hydrolysis-resistant than other dipeptides. Accordingly, the high lysine + lysyl-glycine peak determined by HPLC (and the low glycine concentration) could be due to the persistence of intact lysyl-glycine. It follows then, that the inefficient hydrolysis of lysyl-glycine may not have produced a high enough intracellular free lysine concentration to trigger the trans-stimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+}. Better separation techniques for lysyl-glycine and lysine are needed to further explore this outcome.

4.2.3. Effect of aminopeptidase inhibitor on trans-stimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+} system

Intracellular hydrolysis is an essential step to increase intracellular free amino acid concentrations in order for dipeptides to induce trans-stimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+} (Wenzel *et al.*, 2001). To initiate trans-stimulation, the intracellular free amino acid concentration may have to reach an elevated level to bind with the intracellular binding site of rBAT/b^{0,+}. In the current study, we hypothesized that interfering with dipeptide hydrolysis using an aminopeptidase inhibitor would reduce the intracellular free amino acid concentration, in turn diminishing the favorable effect demonstrated by lysine-

containing dipeptides on arginine uptake. Indeed, we discovered that exposing the gut loops to the peptidase inhibitor amastatin abolished the potentiating effects of 20 mM lysyl-lysine on arginine uptake. Surprisingly, when we repeated a loop with arginine and 50 mM glycyl-lysine (with no inhibitor), arginine uptake was enhanced significantly, in contrast to the first experiment; however, the effect was abolished when arginine and glycyl-lysine were perfused with amastatin (Figure 3-11). These data support our hypothesis that the addition of the aminopeptidase inhibitor amastatin with dipeptides would impede the trans-stimulation activity by reducing intracellular hydrolysis of dipeptides. Wenzel et al. (2001) reported a similar observation where the transstimulation effect produced by glycyl-arginine was abolished when amastatin was added to the incubation media of Caco-2 cells. Importantly, these authors have also demonstrated that trans-stimulation produced by incubation of cells with free amino acids was not affected by the presence of aminopeptidase inhibitor. Taken together, our findings along with previously reported data clearly demonstrate that intracellular free cationic amino acid concentration is a key factor for trans-stimulation of the rBAT/b^{0,+} system. Furthermore, the intracellular free amino acid concentration generated by PepT1-mediated dipeptide uptake potentiates the effect likely because dipeptides are transported into enterocytes more efficiently and rapidly than free amino acids (Adibi, 1971).

4.2.4. Arginine disappearance with free luminal lysine

The cationic amino acids arginine and lysine enter enterocytes via the rBAT/b^{0,+} system (Van Winkle *et al.*, 1988). Studies conducted in chicks (Austic & Scott, 1975), dogs (Czarnecki *et al.*, 1985) and guinea pigs (O'Dell & Regan, 1963) have reported arginine and lysine antagonism for intestinal uptake as they share the rBAT/b^{0,+} system for cellular uptake. However, the importance of the antagonism between these two cationic amino acids is controversial in pigs, as Edmonds & Baker (1987) did not demonstrate an antagonistic effect on arginine with excess lysine. In the current study we were also unable to observe lysine-arginine antagonism, as 20 mM of free lysine (123-130% of control (Figures 3-9 and 3-10)) did not impair arginine uptake compared to the control situation with no lysine.

We hypothesized that a high concentration of free lysine in the luminal buffers may compete with arginine for uptake by the common transporter; as such, the delivery of lysine as a dipeptide should be more efficient. Conversely, in the current study we did not observe either favorable or negative effect with the free lysine condition. However, high free lysine concentration generated by spontaneous hydrolysis and perhaps brush border hydrolysis during the perfusion of 50 mM lysyl-lysine seemed to negatively influence trans-stimulated arginine uptake. In contrast to our observation, the study conducted in Caco-2 cell culture reported that arginine uptake was enhanced by 246% with 10 mM free lysine (Wenzel *et al.*, 2001). However, they also reported that the potentiating effect of free lysine was significantly lower compared to lysyl-lysine dipeptide. In our study, we observed that arginine uptake was similar when loops were

perfused with free lysine compared to when 10 mM lysyl-lysine was added to the perfusate. Lack of arginine-lysine antagonism in piglet intestine could be due to the uptake of cationic amino acids by alternative transporters. Because of the importance of arginine and lysine to the growing neonate, it is important to further investigate the presence or absence of an antagonistic effect of high lysine on arginine uptake.

4.2.5. Appearance of arginine metabolites in perfused buffers

It was surprising to measure high concentrations of ornithine and citrulline in the perfused buffers. Ornithine and citrulline are major catabolic products of arginine and they are also components of the urea cycle (Wu & Morris, 1998). Scintillation counting of the fractions collected from citrulline and ornithine peaks demonstrated that the amino acids were radio-labeled with ³H. This finding confirms that the ornithine and citrulline in the buffers were derived from the arginine tracer. Arginine hydrolysis by arginase results in the production of urea and ornithine (Wu *et al.*, 1997). Interestingly, a study conducted in developing pig enterocytes reported that arginase activity in intestinal enterocytes is minimal during the first 21 days of life, and then increases (Wu, 1995). We also studied 21 day old piglets, and expected that arginase activity would be low in the intestine, with minimal conversion of arginine to ornithine. I have measured arginase activity in 4 mucosal samples, but could not detect any arginase activity (results not shown). Thus, it will be interesting to investigate the underlying mechanism of this outcome.

4.3. Conclusions

We have established and validated the Ussing chamber model as an *in vitro* experimental model in our laboratory by demonstrating intestinal tissue viability over two hours. To my knowledge, we are also the first to demonstrate inhibition of the PepT1 transporter by losartan in intestinal tissue sampled from piglets.

The results of our investigations on transepithelial transport of dipeptides have demonstrated that passive paracellular movement appears to contribute more to total transepithelial transport than PepT1-mediated transcellular transport in the jejunum of 18 day old piglets. The high proportion of passive paracellular movement in the jejunum is likely due to "leakiness" and perhaps to relatively low expression of the PepT1 transporter in jejunum during the late suckling period. Also, the high transepithelial transport observed in jejunum compared to ileum could be considered developmental adaptation to absorb highly digestible sow milk in the upper gut during the suckling period. However further studies could be done to more carefully explore the high transepithelial rate of transport and high paracellular movement observed in jejunum compared to ileum. The *in vivo* gut loop method would be a better experimental model to measure transport activity in a more physiological situation. Further, contribution of the paracellular and PepT1 mediated transcellular pathways on transepithilial transport of dipeptides should be measured in jejunal and ileal sections of the gut in pre- and postweaned piglets to determine the developmental changes.

The results of my *in vivo* gut loop study suggested that 20 mM lysyl-lysine was capable of enhancing arginine uptake by trans-stimulating the rBAT/ $b^{0,+}$ system. However, the contribution of the $rBAT/b^{0,+}$ system in trans-stimulation has yet to be verified. A study which specifically inhibits the rBAT/b^{0,+} system would be beneficial in determining whether it is involved in the trans-stimulation effect that is enhanced by dipeptides. The high free lysine concentration that appeared in the perfusion buffer both prior to and during the experiment with 50 mM lysyl-lysine may have contributed to a reduced potential effect on arginine uptake compared to 20 mM lysyl-lysine, due to competition of lysine with arginine for $rBAT/b^{0,+}$; however, we do not have enough evidence to conclude that this outcome is the result of competition for the transporter, as arginine uptake was not lower than the control situation. It is possible that free luminal lysine may have exchanged with intracellular lysine via $bBAT/b^{0,+}$ system. Therefore, further experiments are required to understand this scenario. Tissue free amino acid analysis suggested that the absence of trans-stimulation with 50 mM lysyl-glycine may have been due to lack of intracellular hydrolysis of lysyl-glycine. Also, our experiments performed with the amino peptidase inhibitor showed that intracellular hydrolysis of dipeptides is critical step for successful trans-stimulation of the rBAT/b0,+ system.

Although the current study answered our research question about transstimulation of rBAT/b^{0,+} system, it also brought to light some important questions requiring further research. We did not observe arginine-lysine antagonism when lysine and arginine were presented to the absorptive surface at the same concentration, but we observed a negative effect on trans-stimulation with higher free luminal lysine

concentration. Lysine is considered the first limiting amino acid in the pig diet and the second limiting amino acid for poultry (Baker, 2007) and arginine is an indispensable amino acid in neonates; thus, it is important to investigate varying antagonistic effects. Another important question arises from the appearance of isotopically labeled ornithine and citrulline in the perfusates. It remains to be determined whether arginase activity was higher in our piglets than previously reported in suckling piglets; furthermore, even with significant arginase activity, we also need to understand more about the transporting mechanism of these arginine metabolites back to the lumen.

To the best of my knowledge, we are the first to demonstrate the interaction between the uptake of arginine and lysine-containing dipeptides at the cellular level in an *in situ* model. Understanding the interrelationships between free amino acids and peptide absorption could be used to enhance the delivery of nutritionally important amino acids, particularly during intestinal stress such as during weaning or infection.

- 1. Adegoke, O. A., McBurney, M. I., Samuels, S. E., and Baracos, V. E. (1999) Luminal amino acids acutely decrease intestinal mucosal protein synthesis and protease mRNA in piglets. *J Nutr*, 129, 1871-1878.
- 2. Adibi SA & Mercer DW (1973) Protein digestion in human intestine as reflected in luminal, mucosal, and plasma amino acid concentrations after meals. *J Clin Invest* 52, 1586-1594.
- 3. Adibi SA & Soleimanpour MR (1974) Functional characterization of dipeptide transport system in human jejunum. *J Clin Invest* 53, 1368-1374.
- 4. Adibi SA (1971) Intestinal transport of dipeptides in man: relative importance of hydrolysis and intact absorption. *J Clin Invest* 50, 2266-2275.
- 5. Adibi SA (1997) The oligopeptide transporter (Pept-1) in human intestine: biology and function. *Gastroenterology* 113, 332-340.
- 6. Adibi SA (2003) Regulation of expression of the intestinal oligopeptide transporter (Pept-1) in health and disease. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 285, G779-788.
- 7. Adibi, S. A. (1976). Intestinal phase of protein assimilation in man. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 29, 205–15.
- Anderson CM, Grenade DS, Boll M, Foltz M, Wake KA, Kennedy DJ, Munck LK, Miyauchi S, Taylor PM, Campbell FC, Munck BG, Daniel H, Ganapathy V & Thwaites DT (2004) H+/amino acid transporter 1 (PAT1) is the imino acid carrier: An intestinal nutrient/drug transporter in human and rat. *Gastroenterology* 127, 1410-1422.
- 9. Anderson LC, Lewis AJ, Peo ER, Jr. & Crenshaw JD (1984) Effects of excess arginine with and without supplemental lysine on performance, plasma amino acid concentrations and nitrogen balance of young swine. *J Anim Sci* 58, 369-377.
- 10. Ashida K, Katsura T, Saito H & Inui K (2004) Decreased activity and expression of intestinal oligopeptide transporter PEPT1 in rats with hyperthyroidism in vivo. *Pharm Res* 21, 969-975.
- 11. Austic RE & Scott RL (1975) Involvement of food intake in the lysinearginine antagonism in chicks. *J Nutr* 105, 1122-1131.
- Baker, D. H. (2007) Lysine, Arginine, and Related Amino Acids: An Introduction to the 6th Amino Acid Assessment Workshop. J Nutr , 137, 1599S-1601S

- Ball RO, Urschel KL & Pencharz PB (2007) Nutritional consequences of interspecies differences in arginine and lysine metabolism. J Nutr 137, 1626S-1641S.
- 14. Barbul A (1986) Arginine: biochemistry, physiology, and therapeutic implications. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr* 10, 227-238.
- Barrett, K. E. (2006). Gastrointestinal physiology. McGraw-Hill, Medical Pub. Division. New York. Retrieved March, 2012, from MUNLibrary: http://qe2aproxy.mun.ca/login?url=http://www.accessmedicine.com/resourceTOC.aspx?r esourceID=77
- Bauch C & Verrey F (2002) Apical heterodimeric cystine and cationic amino acid transporter expressed in MDCK cells. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 283, F181-189.
- Bernstein CN, Wajda A, Svenson LW, MacKenzie A, Koehoorn M, Jackson M, Fedorak R, Israel D & Blanchard JF (2006) The epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada: a population-based study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 101, 1559-1568.
- 18. Bertolo RF & Burrin DG (2008) Comparative aspects of tissue glutamine and proline metabolism. *J Nutr* 138, 2032S-2039S.
- Blachier F, Boutry C, Bos C & Tome D (2009) Metabolism and functions of L-glutamate in the epithelial cells of the small and large intestines. *Am J Clin Nutr* 90, 814S-821S.
- 20. Blachier F, M'Rabet-Touil H, Posho L, Darcy-Vrillon B & Duee PH (1993) Intestinal arginine metabolism during development. Evidence for de novo synthesis of L-arginine in newborn pig enterocytes. *Eur J Biochem* 216, 109-117.
- 21. Borsook, H., & Dubnoff, J. W. (1941). The conversion of citrulline to arginine in kidney. *J Biol Chem*, 141, 717-738.
- 22. Boudry G, David ES, Douard V, Monteiro IM, Le Huerou-Luron I & Ferraris RP (2010) Role of intestinal transporters in neonatal nutrition: carbohydrates, proteins, lipids, minerals, and vitamins. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 51, 380-401.
- 23. Boyd DR, Kensinger RS, Harrell RJ & Bauman DE (1995) Nutrient uptake and endocrine regulation of milk synthesis by mammary tissue of lactating sows. J Anim Sci, 73, 36-56.

- Bretschneider B, Brandsch M & Neubert R (1999) Intestinal transport of betalactam antibiotics: analysis of the affinity at the H+/peptide symporter (PEPT1), the uptake into Caco-2 cell monolayers and the transepithelial flux. *Pharm Res* 16, 55-61.
- 25. Broer A, Klingel K, Kowalczuk S, Rasko JE, Cavanaugh J & Broer S (2004) Molecular cloning of mouse amino acid transport system B0, a neutral amino acid transporter related to Hartnup disorder. *J Biol Chem* 279, 24467-24476.
- 26. Broer S (2008) Amino acid transport across mammalian intestinal and renal epithelia. *Physiol Rev* 88, 249-286.
- Brunton JA, Bertolo RF, Pencharz PB & Ball RO (1999) Proline ameliorates arginine deficiency during enteral but not parenteral feeding in neonatal piglets. *Am J Physiol* 277, E223-231.
- Busch AE, Herzer T, Waldegger S, Schmidt F, Palacin M, Biber J, Markovich D, Murer H & Lang F (1994) Opposite directed currents induced by the transport of dibasic and neutral amino acids in Xenopus oocytes expressing the protein rBAT. *J Biol Chem* 269, 25581-25586.
- 29. Caspary, W. F. (1992). Physiology and pathophysiology of intestinal absorption. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 55, 299S-308S.
- 30. Chediack JG, Caviedes-Vidal E & Karasov WH (2006) Electroaffinity in paracellular absorption of hydrophilic D-dipeptides by sparrow intestine. *J Comp Physiol B* 176, 303-309.
- 31. Cheeseman CI & Smyth DH (1975) Interaction of amino acids, peptides and peptidases in the small intestine. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 190, 149-163.
- 32. Chen H, Pan Y, Wong EA & Webb KE, Jr. (2005) Dietary protein level and stage of development affect expression of an intestinal peptide transporter (cPepT1) in chickens. *J Nutr* 135, 193-198.
- 33. Chen H, Wong EA & Webb KE, Jr. (1999) Tissue distribution of a peptide transporter mRNA in sheep, dairy cows, pigs, and chickens. *J Anim Sci* 77, 1277-1283.
- 34. Chen M, Singh A, Xiao F, Dringenberg U, Wang J, Engelhardt R, Yeruva S, Rubio-Aliaga I, Nassl AM, Kottra G, Daniel H & Seidler U (2010) Gene ablation for PEPT1 in mice abolishes the effects of dipeptides on small intestinal fluid absorption, short-circuit current, and intracellular pH. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 299, G265-274.

- 35. Chillaron J, Estevez R, Mora C, Wagner CA, Suessbrich H, Lang F, Gelpi JL, Testar X, Busch AE, Zorzano A & Palacin M (1996) Obligatory amino acid exchange via systems bo,+-like and y+L-like. A tertiary active transport mechanism for renal reabsorption of cystine and dibasic amino acids. *J Biol Chem* 271, 17761-17770.
- 36. Clarke LL (2009) A guide to Ussing chamber studies of mouse intestine. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 296, G1151-1166.
- 37. Czarnecki GL, Hirakawa DA & Baker DH (1985) Antagonism of arginine by excess dietary lysine in the growing dog. *J Nutr* 115, 743-752.
- 38. Daniel H & Adibi SA (1994) Functional separation of dipeptide transport and hydrolysis in kidney brush border membrane vesicles. *FASEB J* 8, 753-759.
- 39. Daniel H & Kottra G (2004b) The proton oligopeptide cotransporter family SLC15 in physiology and pharmacology. *Pflugers Arch* 447, 610-618.
- 40. Daniel H (1996) Function and molecular structure of brush border membrane peptide/H+ symporters. *J Membr Biol* 154, 197-203.
- 41. Daniel H (2004a) Molecular and integrative physiology of intestinal peptide transport. *Annu Rev Physiol* 66, 361-384.
- 42. Dave MH, Schulz N, Zecevic M, Wagner CA & Verrey F (2004) Expression of heteromeric amino acid transporters along the murine intestine. *J Physiol* 558, 597-610.
- 43. de Sanctis L, Bonetti G, Bruno M, De Luca F, Bisceglia L, Palacin M, Dianzani I & Ponzone A (2001) Cystinuria phenotyping by oral lysine and arginine loading. *Clin Nephrol* 56, 467-474.
- 44. Dupont, C. (2003). Protein requirements during the first year of life. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 77, 1544S–1549.
- 45. Edmonds MS & Baker DH (1987) Failure of excess dietary lysine to antagonize arginine in young pigs. *J Nutr* **117**, 1396-1401.
- 46. Featherston WR, Rogers QR & Freedland RA (1973) Relative importance of kidney and liver in synthesis of arginine by the rat. *Am J Physiol* 224, 127-129.
- 47. Fei YJ, Kanai Y, Nussberger S, Ganapathy V, Leibach FH, Romero MF, Singh SK, Boron WF & Hediger MA (1994) Expression cloning of a mammalian proton-coupled oligopeptide transporter. *Nature* 368, 563-566.

- 48. Fjellstedt E, Harnevik L, Jeppsson JO, Tiselius HG, Soderkvist P & Denneberg T (2003) Urinary excretion of total cystine and the dibasic amino acids arginine, lysine and ornithine in relation to genetic findings in patients with cystinuria treated with sulfhydryl compounds. Urol Res 31, 417-425.
- 49. Flynn NE & Wu G (1996) An important role for endogenous synthesis of arginine in maintaining arginine homeostasis in neonatal pigs. *Am J Physiol* 271, R1149-1155.
- 50. Flynn NE, Meininger CJ, Haynes TE & Wu G (2002) The metabolic basis of arginine nutrition and pharmacotherapy. *Biomed Pharmacother* 56, 427-438.
- 51. Ford D, Howard A & Hirst BH (2003) Expression of the peptide transporter hPepT1 in human colon: a potential route for colonic protein nitrogen and drug absorption. *Histochem Cell Biol* 119, 37-43.
- 52. Freeman TC (1995) Parallel patterns of cell-specific gene expression during enterocyte differentiation and maturation in the small intestine of the rabbit. *Differentiation* 59, 179-192.
- 53. Freeman HJ, Kim YS & Sleisenger, MH. (1979). Protein digestion and absorption in man: Normal mechanisms and protein-energy malnutrition. *Am J Med*, 67, 1030-1036.
- 54. Ganapathy V & Leibach FH (1985) Is intestinal peptide transport energized by a proton gradient? *Am J Physiol* 249, G153-160.
- 55. Ganapathy V & Leibach FH (1983) Role of pH gradient and membrane potential in dipeptide transport in intestinal and renal brush-border membrane vesicles from the rabbit. Studies with L-carnosine and glycyl-L-proline. *J Biol Chem* 258, 14189-14192.
- 56. Ganapathy V, Burckhardt G & Leibach FH (1984) Characteristics of glycylsarcosine transport in rabbit intestinal brush-border membrane vesicles. *J Biol Chem* 259, 8954-8959.
- 57. Ganapathy V, Mendicino JF & Leibach FH (1981) Transport of glycyl-Lproline into intestinal and renal brush border vesicles from rabbit. *J Biol Chem* 256, 118-124.
- 58. Ganapathy, V., & Leibach, F. H. (1996). Peptide transporters. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens, 5, 395.

- 59. Ganapathy, V., Hellier, M. & Radhakrishnan, A. (1979) Interaction of amino acids with glycyl-glycine transport in the mammalian intestine. *J Biosoc Sci*, 1, 1-13.
- 60. Gasol E, Jimenez-Vidal M, Chillaron J, Zorzano A & Palacin M (2004) Membrane topology of system xc- light subunit reveals a re-entrant loop with substrate-restricted accessibility. *J Biol Chem* 279, 31228-31236.
- 61. Gilbert ER, Wong EA & Webb KE, Jr. (2008) Board-invited review: Peptide absorption and utilization: Implications for animal nutrition and health. *J Anim Sci* 86, 2135-2155.
- 62. Gilbert ER, Wong EA, Vaughan M & Webb KE, Jr. (2007) Distribution and abundance of nutrient transporter mRNA in the intestinal tract of the black bear, Ursus americanus. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* 146, 35-41.
- 63. Groneberg DA, Doring F, Eynott PR, Fischer A & Daniel H (2001) Intestinal peptide transport: ex vivo uptake studies and localization of peptide carrier PEPT1. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 281, G697-704.
- 64. Hagemeier DL, Libal GW & Wahlstrom RC (1983) Effects of excess arginine on swine growth and plasma amino acid levels. *J Anim Sci* 57, 99-105.
- 65. Hagihira H, Lin EC, Samiy AH & Wilson TH (1961) Active transport of lysine, ornithine, arginine and cystine by the intestine. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 4, 478-481.
- 66. Hallemeesch MM, Lamers WH & Deutz NE (2002) Reduced arginine availability and nitric oxide production. *Clin Nutr* 21, 273-279.
- 67. Hammerman MR (1982) Na+-independent L-arginine transport in rabbit renal brush border membrane vesicles. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **685**, 71-77.
- 68. Hara H, Funabiki R, Iwata M & Yamazaki K (1984) Portal absorption of small peptides in rats under unrestrained conditions. *J Nutr* 114, 1122-1129.
- 69. Harrison AP, Erlwanger KH, Elbrond VS, Andersen NK & Unmack MA (2004) Gastrointestinal-tract models and techniques for use in safety pharmacology. *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods* 49, 187-199.
- Hayashi H & Suzuki Y (1998) Regulation of intracellular pH during H+coupled oligopeptide absorption in enterocytes from guinea-pig ileum. J Physiol 511 (Pt 2), 573-586.

- 71. He Q, Tang H, Ren P, Kong X, Wu G, Yin Y & Wang Y (2011) Dietary supplementation with 1-arginine partially counteracts serum metabonome induced by weaning stress in piglets. *J Proteome Res* 10, 5214-5221.
- 72. Hillgren KM, Kato A & Borchardt RT (1995) In vitro systems for studying intestinal drug absorption. *Med Res Rev* 15, 83-109.
- 73. Himukai M & Hoshi T (1980) Mechanisms of glycyl-L-leucine uptake by guinea-pig small intestine: relative importance of intact-peptide transport. *J Physiol* 302, 155-169.
- 74. Himukai M, Kano-Kameyama A & Hoshi T (1982) Mechanisms of inhibition of glycylglycine transport by glycyl-L-leucine and L-leucine in guinea-pig small intestine. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 687, 170-178.
- 75. Hoogenraad N, Totino N, Elmer H, Wraight C, Alewood P & Johns RB (1985) Inhibition of intestinal citrulline synthesis causes severe growth retardation in rats. *Am J Physiol* 249, G792-799.
- 76. Hussain I, Kellett L, Affleck J, Shepherd J & Boyd R (2002) Expression and cellular distribution during development of the peptide transporter (PepT1) in the small intestinal epithelium of the rat. *Cell Tissue Res* 307, 139-142.
- 77. Igarashi K & Kashiwagi K (2000) Polyamines: mysterious modulators of cellular functions. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 271, 559-564.
- 78. Ignarro LJ (2002) Nitric oxide as a unique signaling molecule in the vascular system: a historical overview. *J Physiol Pharmacol* 53, 503-514.
- 79. Kadirvel R & Kratzer FH (1974) Uptake of L-arginine and L-lysine by the small intestine and its influence on arginine-lysine antagonism in chicks. *J Nutr* 104, 339-343.
- Kanai Y & Endou H (2001) Heterodimeric amino acid transporters: molecular biology and pathological and pharmacological relevance. *Curr Drug Metab* 2, 339-354.
- 81. Kanai Y & Hediger MA (1992) Primary structure and functional characterization of a high-affinity glutamate transporter. *Nature* 360, 467-471.
- Karczewski J & Groot J (2000) Molecular physiology and pathophysiology of tight junctions III. Tight junction regulation by intracellular messengers: differences in response within and between epithelia. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 279, G660-665.

- 83. Kim SW & Wu G (2004) Dietary arginine supplementation enhances the growth of milk-fed young pigs. *J Nutr* 134, 625-630.
- 84. Klang JE, Burnworth LA, Pan YX, Webb KE, Jr. & Wong EA (2005) Functional characterization of a cloned pig intestinal peptide transporter (pPepT1). J Anim Sci 83, 172-181.
- 85. Knutter I, Kottra G, Fischer W, Daniel H & Brandsch M (2009) High-affinity interaction of sartans with H+/peptide transporters. *Drug Metab Dispos*, 37, 143-149.
- 86. Lafforgue G, Arellano C, Vachoux C, Woodley J, Philibert C, Dupouy V, Bousquet-Melou A, Gandia P & Houin G (2008) Oral absorption of ampicillin: role of paracellular route vs. PepT1 transporter. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol* 22, 189-201.
- 87. Lacombe O, Woodley J, Solleux C, Delbos JM, Boursier-Neyret C & Houin G (2004) Localisation of drug permeability along the rat small intestine, using markers of the paracellular, transcellular and some transporter routes. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 23, 385-391.
- Lister N, Sykes AP, Bailey PD, Boyd CA & Bronk JR (1995) Dipeptide transport and hydrolysis in isolated loops of rat small intestine: effects of stereospecificity. *J Physiol* 484 (Pt 1), 173-182.
- 89. Liu QR, Lopez-Corcuera B, Nelson H, Mandiyan S & Nelson N (1992) Cloning and expression of a cDNA encoding the transporter of taurine and beta-alanine in mouse brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89, 12145-12149.
- 90. Ma K, Hu Y & Smith DE (2011) Peptide transporter 1 is responsible for intestinal uptake of the dipeptide glycylsarcosine: studies in everted jejunal rings from wild-type and Pept1 null mice. J Pharm Sci 100, 767-774.
- 91. Madara JL & Stafford J (1989) Interferon-gamma directly affects barrier function of cultured intestinal epithelial monolayers. *J Clin Invest* **83**, 724-727.
- 92. Maenz DD, Chenu C & Berteloot A (1993) Heterotropic effects of dipolar amino acids on the activity of the anionic amino acid transport system X-AG in rabbit jejunal brush-border membrane vesicles. J Biol Chem 268, 15361-15367.
- 93. Marini JC (2012) Arginine and ornithine are the main precursors for citrulline synthesis in mice. *J Nutr* 142, 572-580.

- 94. Marletta MA (1989) Nitric oxide: biosynthesis and biological significance. *Trends Biochem Sci* 14, 488-492.
- 95. Matthews DM (1972) Intestinal absorption of amino acids and peptides. *Proc Nutr Soc* 31, 171-177.
- 96. Matthews JC & Webb KE, Jr. (1995) Absorption of L-carnosine, Lmethionine, and L-methionylglycine by isolated sheep ruminal and omasal epithelial tissue. J Anim Sci 73, 3464-3475.
- 97. McCollum MQ & Webb KE, Jr. (1998) Glycyl-L-sarcosine absorption across ovine omasal epithelium during coincubation with other peptide substrates and volatile fatty acids. *J Anim Sci* 76, 2706-2711.
- 98. Medow MS, Roth KS, Goldmann DR, Ginkinger K, Hsu BY & Segal S (1986) Developmental aspects of proline transport in rat renal brush border membranes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 83, 7561-7564.
- 99. Meijer AJ, Lamers WH & Chamuleau RA (1990) Nitrogen metabolism and ornithine cycle function. *Physiol Rev* 70, 701-748.
- Meredith D, Temple CS, Guha N, Sword CJ, Boyd CA, Collier ID, Morgan KM & Bailey PD (2000) Modified amino acids and peptides as substrates for the intestinal peptide transporter PepT1. *Eur J Biochem* 267, 3723-3728.
- 101. Merlin D, Si-Tahar M, Sitaraman SV, Eastburn K, Williams I, Liu X, Hediger MA & Madara JL (2001) Colonic epithelial hPepT1 expression occurs in inflammatory bowel disease: transport of bacterial peptides influences expression of MHC class 1 molecules. *Gastroenterology* 120, 1666-1679.
- 102. Miller ER & Ullrey DE (1987) The pig as a model for human nutrition. *Annu Rev Nutr* 7, 361-382.
- 103. Miyamoto Y, Nakamura H, Hoshi T, Ganapathy V & Leibach FH (1990) Uphill transport of beta-alanine in intestinal brush-border membrane vesicles. *Am J Physiol* 259, G372-379.
- 104. Moeser AJ, Klok CV, Ryan KA, Wooten JG, Little D, Cook VL & Blikslager AT (2007) Stress signaling pathways activated by weaning mediate intestinal dysfunction in the pig. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 292, G173-181.
- 105. Morris SM, Jr. (2004a) Recent advances in arginine metabolism. *Curr* Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 7, 45-51.

- 106. Morris SM, Jr. (2004b) Enzymes of arginine metabolism. *J Nutr* 134, 2743S-2747S; discussion 2765S-2767S.
- 107. Morris SM, Jr. (2006) Arginine: beyond protein. *Am J Clin Nutr* 83, 508S-512S.
- 108. Munck BG & Munck LK (1994) Phenylalanine transport in rabbit small intestine. *J Physiol* 480 (Pt 1), 99-107.
- Munck BG & Munck LK (1997) Na+-independent transport of bipolar and cationic amino acids across the luminal membrane of the small intestine. *Am J Physiol* 272, R1060-1068.
- 110. Munck BG & Munck LK (1999) Effects of pH changes on systems ASC and B in rabbit ileum. *Am J Physiol* 276, G173-184.
- 111. Munck BG (1966) Amino acid transport by the small intestine of the rat. The existence and specificity of the transport mechanism of imino acids and its relation to the transport of glycine. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 120, 97-103.
- Munck LK & Munck BG (1995a) Transport of glycine and lysine on the chloride-dependent beta-alanine (B0,+) carrier in rabbit small intestine. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1235, 93-99.
- 113. Munck LK & Munck BG (1995b) Amino acid transport in the small intestine. *Physiol Res* 44, 335-346.
- 114. Nagahara N, Tavelin S & Artursson P (2004) Contribution of the paracellular route to the pH-dependent epithelial permeability to cationic drugs. *J Pharm Sci* **93**, 2972-2984.
- 115. Nakanishi T, Hatanaka T, Huang W, Prasad PD, Leibach FH, Ganapathy ME & Ganapathy V (2001) Na+- and Cl--coupled active transport of carnitine by the amino acid transporter ATB(0,+) from mouse colon expressed in HRPE cells and Xenopus oocytes. *J Physiol* 532, 297-304.
- 116. Nassl AM, Rubio-Aliaga I, Fenselau H, Marth MK, Kottra G & Daniel H (2011) Amino acid absorption and homeostasis in mice lacking the intestinal peptide transporter PEPT1. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 301, G128-137.
- 117. Nassl, A. M., Rubio-Aliaga, I., Fenselau, H., Marth, M. K., Kottra, G., and Daniel, H. (2011) Amino acid absorption and homeostasis in mice lacking the intestinal peptide transporter PEPT1. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 301, G128-137.

- 118. Nesheim MC (1968) Genetic variation in arginine and lysine utilization. *Fed Proc* 27, 1210-1214.
- 119. Newey H & Smyth DH (1960) Intracellular hydrolysis of dipeptides during intestinal absorption. *J Physiol* 152, 367-380.
- 120. Nguyen TV, Smith DE & Fleisher D (2007) PEPT1 enhances the uptake of gabapentin via trans-stimulation of b0,+ exchange. *Pharm Res* 24, 353-360.
- Nichols NL & Bertolo RF (2008) Luminal threonine concentration acutely affects intestinal mucosal protein and mucin synthesis in piglets. *J Nutr* 138, 1298-1303.
- 122. Nosworthy MG, Bertolo RF & Brunton JA (2012) Ontogeny of dipeptide uptake and peptide transporter 1 (PepT1) expression along the gastrointestinal tract in the neonatal Yucatan miniature pig. *Br J Nutr*, 1-7.
- 123. O'Dell BL & Regan WO. (1963) Effect of Lysine and Glycine Upon Arginine Requirement of Guinea Pigs. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med*, 112, 336-337.
- 124. Ogihara H, Suzuki T, Nagamachi Y, Inui K & Takata K (1999) Peptide transporter in the rat small intestine: ultrastructural localization and the effect of starvation and administration of amino acids. *Histochem J* 31, 169-174.
- 125. Ostrowski HT (1978) Analysis for availability of amino acid supplements in foods and feeds: biochemical and nutritional implications. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 105, 497-547.
- 126. Pacha J (2000) Development of intestinal transport function in mammals. *Physiol Rev* 80, 1633-1667.
- 127. Palacin M (1994) A new family of proteins (rBAT and 4F2hc) involved in cationic and zwitterionic amino acid transport: a tale of two proteins in search of a transport function. *J Exp Biol* 196, 123-137.
- 128. Palacin M, Fernandez E, Chillaron J & Zorzano A (2001) The amino acid transport system b(o,+) and cystinuria. *Mol Membr Biol* 18, 21-26.
- 129. Palacin M, Nunes V, Font-Llitjos M, Jimenez-Vidal M, Fort J, Gasol E, Pineda M, Feliubadalo L, Chillaron J & Zorzano A (2005) The genetics of heteromeric amino acid transporters. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 20, 112-124.
- 130. Pan X, Terada T, Irie M, Saito H & Inui K (2002) Diurnal rhythm of H+peptide cotransporter in rat small intestine. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 283, G57-64.

- 131. Pan Y, Wong EA, Bloomquist JR & Webb KE, Jr. (2001) Expression of a cloned ovine gastrointestinal peptide transporter (oPepT1) in Xenopus oocytes induces uptake of oligopeptides in vitro. *J Nutr* 131, 1264-1270.
- 132. Pegg AE & McCann PP (1982) Polyamine metabolism and function. *Am J Physiol* 243, C212-221.
- 133. Rajan DP, Kekuda R, Huang W, Wang H, Devoe LD, Leibach FH, Prasad PD & Ganapathy V (1999) Cloning and expression of a b(0,+)-like amino acid transporter functioning as a heterodimer with 4F2hc instead of rBAT. A new candidate gene for cystinuria. *J Biol Chem* 274, 29005-29010.
- 134. Reig N, Chillaron J, Bartoccioni P, Fernandez E, Bendahan A, Zorzano A, Kanner B, Palacin M & Bertran J (2002) The light subunit of system b(o,+) is fully functional in the absence of the heavy subunit. *EMBO J* 21, 4906-4914.
- 135. Rerat A, Simoes-Nunes C, Mendy F, Vaissade P & Vaugelade P (1992) Splanchnic fluxes of amino acids after duodenal infusion of carbohydrate solutions containing free amino acids or oligopeptides in the non-anaesthetized pig. *Br J Nutr* 68, 111-138.
- Rogers QR & Visek WJ (1985) Metabolic role of urea cycle intermediates: nutritional and clinical aspects. Introduction. *J Nutr* 115, 505-508.
- 137. Satake M, Enjoh M, Nakamura Y, Takano T, Kawamura Y, Arai S & Shimizu M (2002) Transepithelial transport of the bioactive tripeptide, Val-Pro-Pro, in human intestinal Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 66, 378-384.
- 138. Sawada K, Terada T, Saito H, Hashimoto Y & Inui K (1999) Effects of glibenclamide on glycylsarcosine transport by the rat peptide transporters PEPT1 and PEPT2. *Br J Pharmacol* 128, 1159-1164.
- 139. Scow JS, Madhavan S, Chaudhry RM, Zheng Y, Duenes JA & Sarr MG (2011) Differentiating passive from transporter-mediated uptake by PepT1: a comparison and evaluation of four methods. *J Surg Res* 170, 17-23.
- 140. Sebbage V (2009) Cell-penetrating peptides and their therapeutic applications. *Bioscience Horizons*, 2, 64-72.
- 141. Shen H, Smith DE & Brosius FC, 3rd (2001) Developmental expression of PEPT1 and PEPT2 in rat small intestine, colon, and kidney. *Pediatr Res* 49, 789-795.

- 142. Shulman RJ & Lifschitz CH (1988) Effects of changes in infusion rate versus glucose concentration on absorption in infant miniature pig small intestine. *Gastroenterology* 94, 722-725.
- 143. Shulman RJ (1993) The piglet can be used to study the effects of parenteral and enteral nutrition on body composition. *J Nutr* 123, 395-398.
- 144. Sigrist-Nelson K (1975) Dipeptide transport in isolated intestinal brush border membrane. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 394, 220-226.
- 145. Sloan JL & Mager S (1999) Cloning and functional expression of a human Na(+) and Cl(-)-dependent neutral and cationic amino acid transporter B(0+). J Biol Chem 274, 23740-23745.
- 146. Soderholm JD, Olaison G, Peterson KH, Franzen LE, Lindmark T, Wiren M, Tagesson C & Sjodahl R (2002) Augmented increase in tight junction permeability by luminal stimuli in the non-inflamed ileum of Crohn's disease. *Gut* 50, 307-313.
- 147. Southern LL & Baker DH (1982) Performance and concentration of amino acids in plasma and urine of young pigs fed diets with excesses of either arginine or lysine. *J Anim Sci* 55, 857-866.
- 148. Southern LL & Baker DH (1983) Arginine requirement of the young pig. J Anim Sci 57, 402-412.
- 149. Steinhardt HJ & Adibi SA (1986) Kinetics and characteristics of absorption from an equimolar mixture of 12 glycyl-dipeptides in human jejunum. *Gastroenterology* 90, 577-582.
- 150. Stevens BR & Wright EM (1985) Substrate specificity of the intestinal brush-border proline/sodium (IMINO) transporter. *J Membr Biol* 87, 27-34.
- 151. Stieger B, Stange G, Biber J & Murer H (1983) Transport of L-lysine by rat renal brush border membrane vesicles. *Pflugers Arch* 397, 106-113.
- 152. Sun H, Chow EC, Liu S, Du Y & Pang KS (2008) The Caco-2 cell monolayer: usefulness and limitations. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol* **4**, 395-411.
- 153. Takata K (1996) Glucose transporters in the transepithelial transport of glucose. *J Electron Microsc (Tokyo)* **45**, 275-284.
- 154. Tamura K, Bhatnagar PK, Takata JS, Lee CP, Smith PL & Borchardt RT (1996a) Metabolism, uptake, and transpithelial transport of the diastereomers

of Val-Val in the human intestinal cell line, Caco-2. *Pharm Res* 13, 1213-1218.

- 155. Tamura K, Lee CP, Smith PL & Borchardt RT (1996b) Metabolism, uptake, and transepithelial transport of the stereoisomers of Val-Val-Val in the human intestinal cell line, Caco-2. *Pharm Res* 13, 1663-1667.
- 156. Tan B, Li XG, Kong X, Huang R, Ruan Z, Yao K, Deng Z, Xie M, Shinzato I, Yin Y & Wu G (2009) Dietary L-arginine supplementation enhances the immune status in early-weaned piglets. *Amino Acids* 37, 323-331.
- 157. Tanaka T, Kishi K, Igawa M, Takase S & Goda T (1998) Dietary carbohydrates enhance lactase/phlorizin hydrolase gene expression at a transcription level in rat jejunum. *Biochem J* 331 (Pt 1), 225-230.
- 158. Tapiero H, Mathe G, Couvreur P & Tew KD (2002) I. Arginine. *Biomed Pharmacother* 56, 439-445.
- 159. Terada T & Inui K (2004) Peptide transporters: structure, function, regulation and application for drug delivery. *Curr Drug Metab* 5, 85-94.
- 160. Terada T, Sawada K, Irie M, Saito H, Hashimoto Y & Inui K (2000) Structural requirements for determining the substrate affinity of peptide transporters PEPT1 and PEPT2. *Pflugers Arch* 440, 679-684.
- 161. Thamotharan M, Bawani SZ, Zhou X & Adibi SA (1998) Mechanism of dipeptide stimulation of its own transport in a human intestinal cell line. Proc Assoc Am Physicians 110, 361-368.
- 162. Thamotharan M, Bawani SZ, Zhou X & Adibi SA (1999) Functional and molecular expression of intestinal oligopeptide transporter (Pept-1) after a brief fast. *Metabolism* 48, 681-684.
- Thwaites DT, Markovich D, Murer H & Simmons NL (1996) Na+independent lysine transport in human intestinal Caco-2 cells. J Membr Biol 151, 215-224.
- 164. Tomlinson C, Rafii M, Ball RO & Pencharz P (2011a) Arginine synthesis from enteral glutamine in healthy adults in the fed state. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 301, E267-273.
- 165. Tomlinson, C., Rafii, M., Sgro, M., Ball, R. O., and Pencharz, P. (2011b) Arginine is synthesized from proline, not glutamate, in enterally fed human preterm neonates. *Pediatr Res*, 69, 46-50.

- 166. Ungell AL, Nylander S, Bergstrand S, Sjoberg A & Lennernas H (1998) Membrane transport of drugs in different regions of the intestinal tract of the rat. J Pharm Sci 87, 360-366.
- 167. Urtti A, Johns SJ & Sadee W (2001) Genomic structure of protoncoupled oligopeptide transporter hPEPT1 and pH-sensing regulatory splice variant. *AAPS PharmSci* 3, E6.
- 168. Van Winkle LJ, Campione AL & Gorman JM (1988) Na+-independent transport of basic and zwitterionic amino acids in mouse blastocysts by a shared system and by processes which distinguish between these substrates. *J Biol Chem* **263**, 3150-3163.
- 169. Vig BS, Stouch TR, Timoszyk JK, Quan Y, Wall DA, Smith RL & Faria TN (2006) Human PEPT1 pharmacophore distinguishes between dipeptide transport and binding. *J Med Chem* 49, 3636-3644.
- 170. Visek WJ (1986) Arginine needs, physiological state and usual diets. A reevaluation. *J Nutr* 116, 36-46.
- 171. Walker D, Thwaites DT, Simmons NL, Gilbert HJ & Hirst BH (1998) Substrate upregulation of the human small intestinal peptide transporter, hPepT1. *J Physiol* 507 (Pt 3), 697-706.
- 172. Wang W, Gu W, Tang X, Geng M, Fan M, Li T, Chu W, Shi C, Huang R, Zhang H & Yin Y (2009a) Molecular cloning, tissue distribution and ontogenetic expression of the amino acid transporter b(0,+) cDNA in the small intestine of Tibetan suckling piglets. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* 154, 157-164.
- 173. Wang W, Shi C, Zhang J, Gu W, Li T, Gen M, Chu W, Huang R, Liu Y, Hou Y, Li P & Yin Y (2009b) Molecular cloning, distribution and ontogenetic expression of the oligopeptide transporter PepT1 mRNA in Tibetan suckling piglets. *Amino Acids* 37, 593-601.
- 174. Watanabe C, Kato Y, Ito S, Kubo Y, Sai Y & Tsuji A (2005) Na+/H+ exchanger 3 affects transport property of H+/oligopeptide transporter 1. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet* 20, 443-451.
- 175. Wenzel U, Meissner B, Doring F & Daniel H (2001) PEPT1-mediated uptake of dipeptides enhances the intestinal absorption of amino acids via transport system b(0,+). *J Cell Physiol* 186, 251-259.
- 176. WHO (2007) Protein and amino acid requirements in human nutrition. *World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser*, 1-265.

- 177. Winckler C, Breves G, Boll M & Daniel H (1999) Characteristics of dipeptide transport in pig jejunum in vitro. *J Comp Physiol B* 169, 495-500.
- 178. Wu G (1995) Urea synthesis in enterocytes of developing pigs. *Biochem* J **312 (Pt 3)**, 717-723.
- 179. Wu G (1997) Synthesis of citrulline and arginine from proline in enterocytes of postnatal pigs. *Am J Physiol* **272**, G1382-1390.
- 180. Wu G & Meininger CJ (2000) Arginine nutrition and cardiovascular function. *J Nutr* 130, 2626-2629.
- 181. Wu G & Morris SM, Jr. (1998) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. *Biochem J* 336 (Pt 1), 1-17.
- 182. Wu G, Bazer FW, Davis TA, Kim SW, Li P, Marc Rhoads J, Carey Satterfield M, Smith SB, Spencer TE & Yin Y (2009) Arginine metabolism and nutrition in growth, health and disease. *Amino Acids* 37, 153-168.
- 183. Wu G, Borbolla AG & Knabe DA (1994) The uptake of glutamine and release of arginine, citrulline and proline by the small intestine of developing pigs. *J Nutr* 124, 2437-2444.
- 184. Wu G, Flynn NE, Flynn SP, Jolly CA & Davis PK (1999a) Dietary protein or arginine deficiency impairs constitutive and inducible nitric oxide synthesis by young rats. *J Nutr* 129, 1347-1354.
- 185. Wu G, Jaeger LA, Bazer FW & Rhoads JM (2004a) Arginine deficiency in preterm infants: biochemical mechanisms and nutritional implications. J Nutr Biochem 15, 442-451.
- 186. Wu G, Knabe DA & Kim SW (2004b) Arginine nutrition in neonatal pigs. *J Nutr* 134, 2783S-2790S; discussion 2796S-2797S.
- 187. Wu G, Ott TL, Knabe DA & Bazer FW (1999b) Amino acid composition of the fetal pig. *J Nutr* 129, 1031-1038.
- 188. Wyss M & Kaddurah-Daouk R (2000) Creatine and creatinine metabolism. *Physiol Rev* **80**, 1107-1213.
- 189. Yao K, Guan S, Li T, Huang R, Wu G, Ruan Z & Yin Y (2011) Dietary L-arginine supplementation enhances intestinal development and expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in weanling piglets. *Br J Nutr* 105, 703-709.

- 190. Yao K, Yin YL, Chu W, Liu Z, Deng D, Li T, Huang R, Zhang J, Tan B, Wang W & Wu G (2008) Dietary arginine supplementation increases mTOR signaling activity in skeletal muscle of neonatal pigs. J Nutr 138, 867-872.
- 191. Zhou SY, Piyapolrungroj N, Pao L, Li C, Liu G, Zimmermann E & Fleisher D (1999) Regulation of paracellular absorption of cimetidine and 5aminosalicylate in rat intestine. *Pharm Res* 16, 1781-1785.
- 192. Ziegler TR, Fernandez-Estivariz C, Gu LH, Bazargan N, Umeakunne K, Wallace TM, Diaz EE, Rosado KE, Pascal RR, Galloway JR, Wilcox JN & Leader LM (2002) Distribution of the H+/peptide transporter PepT1 in human intestine: up-regulated expression in the colonic mucosa of patients with shortbowel syndrome. Am J Clin Nutr 75, 922-930.
- 193. Stevens BR & Wright EM (1987) Kinetics of the intestinal brush border proline (Imino) carrier. *J Biol Chem* **262**, 6546-6551.







